

Tipping the Balance

Bill 32, The Charter and the Americanization of Alberta's Labour Relations System



Jason Foster

CONTENTS

Tipping the Balance

Bill 32, The Charter and the Americanization of Alberta's Labour Relations System

Jason Foster This report was published by Parkland Institute July 2021 © All rights reserved.

Acknowledgements		
About the author		
About Parkland Institute	iii	
Executive summary	1	
Introduction		
Part One: Introduction to Labour Relations in Canada and the U.S.	5	
Introduction to Labour Relations	5	
Labour Relations in Canada and the U.S.	6	
Core Similarities	7	
Differences Between the U.S. and Canada	9	
Part Two: What is in Bill 32	18	
Making It Harder to Join a Union	19	
Certification Vote Timelines	19	
Weakened Employer Penalties	20	
Preventing Open Periods	21	
Restricting Union Activities	22	
Picket Line Limitations	22	
Secondary Picketing Restrictions	23	
Interfering With and Penalizing Unions	23	
Financial Statements	23	
Identifying Political Activities	24	
Due Opt-In Requirement	24	
Increased Penalties	25	
Part Three: The Effects of Bill 32	26	
Effect on Labour Relations	26	
Making it Harder to Join a Union	27	
Restricting Union Activities	30	
Penalizing Unions	31	
Bill 32 and the Charter		
Relevant Charter Rights	33	
Current Status of Labour Charter Rights	35	
Bill 32 and the Charter	36	

All Parkland Institute reports are available free of charge at parklandinstitute.ca. Printed copies can be ordered for \$10.

Your financial support helps us continue to offer our publications free online.

To find out how you can support Parkland Institute, to order printed copies, or to obtain rights to copy this report, please contact us:

> Parkland Institute University of Alberta 1-12 Humanities Centre Edmonton, AB T6G 2E5

Phone: 780.492.8558 Fax: 780.492.8738 Email: parkland@ualberta.ca parklandinstitute.ca

ISBN: 978-1-894949-81-1

53
53
55
57
59
60
62
65
67
20

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank Maria Mosquera Garcia for her research assistance on this project. He would also like to thank the two anonymous reviewers for their constructive commentary on the report. Finally, he also extends his appreciation to Dr. Bob Barnetson for his thoughtful insights on a draft of the report.

About the Author

Jason Foster is director of Parkland Institute and associate professor of Human Resources and Labour Relations at Athabasca University. He is author of *Defying Expectations: The Case of UFCW Local 401* and co-author of *Health and Safety in Canadian Workplaces*. He has wide ranging research interests related to work and public policy.



About Parkland Institute

Parkland Institute is an Alberta research network that examines public policy issues. Based in the Faculty of Arts at the University of Alberta, it includes members from most of Alberta's academic institutions as well as other organizations involved in public policy research. Parkland Institute was founded in 1996 and its mandate is to:

- conduct research on economic, social, cultural and political issues facing Albertans and Canadians
- publish research and provide informed comment on current policy issues to the media and the public
- sponsor conferences and public forums on issues facing Albertans
- · bring together academic and non-academic communities

All Parkland Institute reports are academically peer reviewed to ensure the integrity and accuracy of the research.

For more information, visit www.parklandinstitute.ca

Executive Summary

In the summer of 2020 the Alberta government introduced Bill 32: Restoring Balance in Alberta's Workplaces Act (2020). This 82-page omnibus bill proposed sweeping changes to a handful of employment-related and labour-related legislation. Some of the most significant amendments were to Alberta Labour Relations Code, the law that regulates union-employer relations in the province. Almost a year after its introduction, many aspects of Bill 32 continue to be poorly understood for a number of reasons.

One of those reasons is the public perception that the portions of Bill 32 dealing with labour relations only affect unions and their members. A minority of Albertans belong to unions and so the impression may be that the impacts of the bill do not touch most Albertans. However, an in-depth analysis suggests the bill's potential consequences extend far beyond unions. Many of the bill's provisions touch upon rights enjoyed by all working people and all Albertans generally. While unions may be the most directly impacted by the changes brought forth in Bill 32, its consequences will reverberate across many aspects of Alberta society. Further, the bill has the potential to profoundly impact the direction of Alberta's economy.

This report examines Bill 32 with a focus on its broader implications for the rights of Albertans, the health of democratic debate in the province and potential economic consequences. Specifically, the report makes two arguments. First it argues Bill 32 undermines key charter of Rights and Freedoms protections not just for union members but potentially for a wide range of Albertans. Second, the report argues Bill 32 represents an Americanization of labour relations in the province, with significant negative consequences for inequality, economic growth and democratic participation.

Part One lays the groundwork for the report. An introduction to labour relations is provided. The similarities and key differences between U.S. and Canadian labour relations systems are laid out to orient the reader to the two jurisdictions.

Part Two summarizes the key provisions in Bill 32, with a focus on the nine measures that will most impact Albertans: the removal of certification vote timelines; weakened penalties for employer violations; possible prevention of open periods; limitations to picket line activity; restrictions to secondary picketing; requiring unions to provide government-defined financial statements to all members; requiring unions to identify the portion of dues spent on political activities; mandating each union member opt-in to dues for political purposes; increased penalties against unions for violations. While some of these provisions may at first appear narrow and technical, they open up significant concerns regarding the ability of workers to express their charter-protected rights.

Part Three examines the effects of Bill 32 on labour relations in the province. It finds that the bill makes it harder for workers to join a union if they wish by increasing opportunities for interference, makes union activities less effective through new restrictions, and imposes disproportionate new penalties against unions. It also examines how the bill may impact a series of charter-protected rights for all Albertans. Specifically it finds Bill 32:

- Undermines workers' right to free expression through restrictions on picket activity and secondary picketing
- Interferes with the internal operations of private organizations
- Shifts rules regarding membership dues to an American-style approach that elevates individual freedom of speech at the expense of effective freedom of association
- Politically targets voices opposed to the government's agenda to undermine their ability to participate in democratic debate

Part Four examines similar anti-union measures taken in the U.S. and analyzes what their social, economic and political impact has been. These anti-union measures lead to:

- Lower unionization levels and more difficulty for workers trying to organize unions
- No net increase in economic growth
- Lower average wages
- Increased income inequality, in particular gender and racial pay gaps
- Lower democratic participation and a rightward shift in public policy
- Policies that cut funding for public services and undermine the quality of public services

The report concludes that Bill 32 moves Alberta's labour relations environment closer to the U.S. model to the detriment of workers in the province. A number of its provisions are unprecedented in Canada and much more closely reflect U.S. law that is more tilted in favour of employers. The bill will undermine unions' ability to represent their members, organize new members and engage in public debate.

More importantly, the report concludes that Bill 32 impacts more than just unions and their members. The consequences of changes like those in Bill 32 ripple out to all corners of society. All Albertans have a stake in the levels of inequality in our province. All Albertans are affected by the direction of our economic growth and what our labour market looks like. All Albertans benefit from quality public services. All Albertans should be concerned at the prospect of charter-protected rights being undermined. And all Albertans value and rely upon a healthy democracy where a multitude of voices can be heard.

Introduction

In the summer of 2020 the Alberta government introduced Bill 32: Restoring Balance in Alberta's Workplaces Act (2020). This 82-page omnibus bill proposed sweeping changes to a handful of employment-related and labour-related legislation.

Some of the most significant provisions of the bill amend Alberta's Labour Relations Code, the legislation governing union and employer relations in the province. When it was first introduced, labour relations experts observed that it marked a major change to many aspects of the labour relations regime in the province¹. Unions and their allies in civil society raised concerns². Despite these concerns, the government passed the bill without amendments. Many of its provisions have already taken effect and others will be implemented in the coming months.

Almost a year after its introduction, many aspects of Bill 32 continue to be poorly understood, for a number of reasons. In part, this lack of awareness is due to the often technical nature of the amendments which can be difficult for the general public to digest. Also, the government has moved swiftly in many policy areas and has introduced multiple controversial bills, leading to public attention being divided. Finally, the COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted many aspects of Albertans' lives, including their ability to fully engage with provincial politics.

There is also a general sense that the portions of Bill 32 dealing with labour relations only affect unions and their members. A minority of Albertans belong to unions and so the impression may be that the impacts of the bill do not touch most Albertans. And given that unions are not always the most popular institution in society, there are many who are happy to move on to more pressing issues.

An in-depth analysis of the bill suggests its potential consequences extend far beyond unions. Many of the bill's provisions touch upon rights enjoyed by all working people and all Albertans generally. While unions may be the most directly impacted by the changes brought forth in Bill 32, its consequences will reverberate across many aspects of Alberta society. Further, the bill has the potential to profoundly impact the direction of Alberta's economy.

This report examines Bill 32's labour relations provisions to reveal its impacts on unions and their members but also on all Albertans. It establishes the links between rights of unionized workers and their unions to the fundamental rights and freedoms of all Albertans. Finally, it looks at other jurisdictions to discover the economic and social impacts of laws like Bill 32 to offer a glimpse of where Alberta might be heading.

Two arguments are put forth in this report. First, it argues Bill 32 undermines key Charter of Rights and Freedoms protections. While unions may be the target of the provisions, the consequence of undermining these central rights spills over to all Albertans. In particular, Bill 32 raises questions about the right to expression and the right to associate.

Second, the report argues that Bill 32 represents a step toward an American model of labour relations. Many provisions replicate laws found in the U.S., and others display American influences. Americanizing Alberta's labour relations system has profound consequences not just for unions, but for all Albertans. Labour relations rules have an impact on economic growth, inequality, access to public services and other aspects of society. This report sheds light on how Bill 32 moves Alberta toward a more American approach to labour relations and considers the potential outcomes of such a shift.

This report begins by offering a short introduction to labour relations in Canada and in the U.S., including some of the key differences between the two countries. Part Two outlines the main provisions in Bill 32 affecting labour relations in Alberta. Part Three analyzes the bill for how it affects labour relations and for how it undermines charter-protected rights. Part Four examines key economic and social consequences of legislation like Bill 32 by looking at American examples and considering what the impacts might look like in Alberta.

Part One: Introduction to Labour Relations in Canada and the U.S.

Bill 32 makes a number of significant changes to Alberta's labour relations laws. Most people do not spend a lot of time considering these laws and have only an understandably vague sense of how labour relations work. Labour relations deals with unionized workplaces and the process for unionizing. Currently 25.4 per cent of Albertans are unionized³, meaning labour relations laws do not directly affect most Albertans, although what happens in unionized workplaces can have indirect consequences for everyone.

This report argues the changes found in Bill 32 move Alberta closer to an American approach to labour relations, which in general offers more advantages to employers. To understand how Bill 32 Americanizes the province's labour relations system, there is a need to summarize the key features of the two systems and highlight how they differ. Part One will provide a brief introduction to labour relations and then compare the Albertan and American labour relations system.

Introduction to Labour Relations

At its most basic, labour relations is the system governing the relationship between employers and workers represented by unions or wishing to be represented by unions. It has emerged as a distinct area because of the unique dynamics that arise when a union is introduced into a workplace. Labour relations law is a sub-set of employment law and supplements (and at times replaces) the statutory and common law governing the employment relationship generally.

While today's labour relations are a complex, formalized area of law and practice, they have a long history spanning hundreds of years. The employment relationship is one of unequal power; employers possess greater power than workers. This imbalance is anchored in the nature of the economic system and is rooted in employers' legal power to control the workplace and in the fact there is a permanent surplus of workers in the labour market. For hundreds of years workers have sought a way to reduce the imbalance. The most effective means they have found is to join together to create a collective voice to negotiate with the employer. By banding together, workers move beyond a collection of individual employment contracts and can compel the employer to sign a single "collective agreement" with all workers.

In practical terms, workers' collective voice is the union. Over the past 200 years unions have taken different forms and structures but their general purpose was the same – marshal workers' strength vis-a-vis the employer to negotiate better working conditions. Unions also take on a broader role in advocating for broader social change. This engagement in public debate has been a feature of unionism since the beginning.

In the 1880s and through the early 1900s efforts to unionize were met with fierce resistance. Clashes between workers and employers over unionization were bitter and often violent as employers aggressively resisted unionization. Governments were of little help, originally considering unions illegal and later passing laws heavily in favour of employers⁴. This shifted around World War Two when governments recognized that repression would not defeat unions and decided in the interests of economic stability that some form of normalization and regulation of unions was necessary. This marks the beginning of the modern labour relations system. The system is designed to legally recognize the legitimacy of unionization in return for curbing more militant aspects of union activity. As legal historians Judy Fudge and Eric Tucker observe:

the new regime of industrial pluralism underwrote the gains made by industrial unions through the exercise of their economic power in the war and the post-war era, allowing for the spread of collective bargaining to core industrial sectors. Unions in these sectors obtained for their members improved wages and occupationally-based benefits, seniority rights, and protection against arbitrary discipline and discharge. The price was that unions were tightly wrapped up in a web of industrial legality that constrained militancy, recognized management rights, and favoured fragmented bargaining.⁵

While there have been important developments and changes in the North American labour relations system over the past eight decades, the core principles of the system have remained unchanged since the 1940s. However, there is room for great variation in how those core principles are interpreted and implemented.

Labour Relations in Canada and the U.S.

The origins of the contemporary labour relations system are found in Franklin Roosevelt's New Deal in the 1930s. Specifically the National Labor Relations Act, passed in 1935. It is more commonly known as the Wagner Act after its sponsor. Amendments to the Wagner Act were implemented in 1947 in the Taft-Hartley Act and the two together comprise the core of American labour relations law.

Canada's experience is similar. Under its expanded powers during World War II, the federal government of MacKenzie King passed Privy Council Order 1003 (PC1003) which emulated most aspects of the Wagner Act. Following the war, the order was formalized in legislation and every province followed suit with similar enactments.

The systems in the two countries are built upon the same basic principles, which means they are highly similar in how they regulate labour relations. They are more similar to each other than to other jurisdictions, such as Europe. Over the ensuing decades the two systems have evolved in different directions, meaning there are important differences that have substantial impact on the relative strength of unions in each country.

Today 12.1 per cent of American workers are represented by a union (7.2 per cent private sector, 38.4 per cent public sector)⁶. In Canada, unionization sits at 31.3 per cent (15.8 per cent private, 77.6 per cent public)⁷. There are complex reasons for the difference, but it is widely accepted by researchers that areas of legal divergence are a key factor in the gap⁸. For this reason it is important to discuss the similarities and differences between the two systems to contextualize an analysis of Bill 32.

Core Similarities

Given their common origin and grounding in identical principles, the labour relations systems in Canada and the U.S. are both described as Wagnerian, or the Wagner Model (after the name of the first U.S. legislation). A few core principles define Wagnerism and are reflected in the legislation in both countries⁹.

The first principle establishes what is called "majoritarian exclusivity" or "majority unionism." If a union demonstrates that a majority of workers in a proposed bargaining unit and is recognized by the government as such, it becomes the exclusive representative of those workers. No other union is allowed to act on the workers' behalf. Other jurisdictions permit multiple unions to represent workers at a workplace.

The first principle triggers the second. Once formally certified as the bargaining agent for a group of workers, an employer becomes legally obligated to recognize and negotiate in good faith with the union. The union shares this obligation to negotiate in good faith along with a duty of fair representation to its members. Terms and conditions of employment will be determined by the parties through negotiation. This principle normalizes unions as a legitimate party in the labour relations process.

The third principle is that the state determines what is an appropriate bargaining unit and that those bargaining units are highly decentralized. In other words, bargaining generally takes place at the workplace or "enterprise"

level of a single employer (although there are exceptions). This is in contrast to Europe and elsewhere where multi-employer or industry-wide bargaining is predominant. This provision is seen as weakening unions' ability to establish industry-wide conditions and standards¹⁰.

The fourth principle consists of legal protections against state or employer interference with union activities, including organizing. Unions must be autonomous from any form of employer influence and workers cannot be punished for union-related activity. These protections are a prerequisite to workers being able to use their rights by preventing reprisal and employer domination.

The final principle is a restriction on the right to strike. In most cases strikes are permitted only after expiry of a collective agreement and once the parties have reached an impasse recognized by the government (the U.S. has provision for "concerted activities" by workers at any time regardless of union status). This is in contrast to pre-Wagner era labour relations when workers possessed the freedom to strike at any time simply by collectively deciding to stop working. This freedom was not necessarily recognized by the state and was actively opposed by employers but was a key feature of pre-Wagner labour relations¹¹. This principle is seen as labour's concession in the interests of economic stability for receiving legal recognition and protection¹².

In both countries, governments have delegated authority to apply and interpret labour relations rules to labour boards, which are independent, quasi-judicial bodies composed of labour relations experts. Orders of labour boards are binding and can be enforced through the courts, meaning parties can face penalties for contempt of court for failure to comply. Given their independence and authority, labour boards can significantly shape how labour relations laws are translated into practice in both countries.

It needs to be recognized these are high-level legal principles. In practice, adherence to these principles is uneven and complex and most of the time practice falls far short of the ideals stipulated in the principles. It is in the realm of legislative detail that much of the practical implications emerge. Governments enact rules that can strengthen or weaken the commitment to Wagnerian principles and the protections to workers it provides. Over the past 80 years the U.S. and Canada have approached implementing these principles in different ways, leading to significant differences in how their labour relations system work.

Differences Between U.S. and Canada

In both countries, labour relations is a split responsibility between federal and provincial/state governments. In the U.S., employment is a federal responsibility and labour relations for most private-sector employers is regulated nationally, but the federal government has authorized states to regulate in certain issues and in particular industries. States also have authority over public sector labour relations involving state employees.

In Canada, labour is a provincial jurisdiction, meaning provinces regulate the vast majority of workers and employers in both the private and public sector. The federal government has legislation covering federally regulated industries such as banking, interprovincial transportation, railways and airlines as well as federal government employees. In both countries the mix of jurisdictions does complicate discussions of specific labour relations provisions. In this section we will attempt to clarify whose jurisdiction covers an item under discussion.

There are many ways in which labour relations law and practice differs between the two countries. This section will restrict its consideration to those that are identified as being most significant in explaining the outcomes in each country and, in particular, those areas to which Bill 32 makes explicit reference. We can divide the relevant differences into three broad categories: organizing and certification; internal union affairs and dues collection; and, labour disputes.

1. Organizing and Certification

Both countries have a similar process for certifying a union in a workplace. If workers are interested in forming a union, they begin organizing within the workplace. At first the process is informal and may take place in secret. At some point the union must file an application with the respective labour board, who will determine if they meet a minimum threshold to proceed to the next step. In most jurisdictions (discussed below) the board would then supervise a formal secret ballot vote of workers. If a majority of workers vote in favour the union is certified and becomes the exclusive bargaining agent. The union then must negotiate with the employer for a first agreement to solidify their position in the workplace.

Labour relations scholars and practitioners have found this period from initial organizing to signing of a first agreement is the most vulnerable period for unions and their members¹³. It is this period when employers who do not wish to be unionized have the most opportunity to thwart workers' wishes. Therefore the differences between Canada and U.S. in this area are important. There are four main differences between the two countries.

EMPLOYER RIGHT TO FREE SPEECH

In both countries during all steps of the organizing drive, the employer has a right to express an opinion about unionization, to certain limits. Both countries allow employers to offer facts about what unionization will mean and express opinions about unionization in communications with workers. Both prohibit any form of threat, coercion, promise or false statement. Within this high level agreement a large divergence has emerged regarding the scope of what an employer is allowed to say and how.

In general, employers in the U.S. have a broader right to free speech in the workplace. The labour board tends to provide a greater degree of latitude in the content of employer communications, including not monitoring the accuracy of statements made¹⁴. The types of activities in which the employer can engage are also broader, giving them greater access to workers on a day-to-day basis than Canadian employers. One significant example is that legislation actively permits so-called "captive audience" meetings, which are mandatory meetings during work hours where the employer can present their case against the union¹⁵. Captive meetings occur in Canada (to an increasing degree), but labour boards view them more suspiciously and take into consideration the captive nature of the meeting. The broader scope for employer intervention has led to a large "union-busting" industry in the U.S., where consultants are hired to run sophisticated anti-union campaigns¹⁶. Again, consultants of this nature also exist in Canada but are not as widespread¹⁷.

Research shows that employer tactics during an organizing drive and certification campaign have a significant impact on the likelihood of a vote succeeding. "[V]irtually every study has demonstrated a negative link between employer resistance and the establishment of union representation rights" 18. The more activities an employer uses, the more likely the vote will fail 19. Captive audience meetings are found to be particularly effective at suppressing union support 20.

CARD CHECK AND VOTE TIMELINES

In Canada, some jurisdictions, including Quebec, New Brunswick, P.E.I. and federal, have provisions for automatic certification without a vote, called "card-check certification," if the union can demonstrate majority support through signed membership cards. The remaining provinces, including Alberta, align with the U.S. in requiring a certification vote to confirm majority support. The key differences between Canada and the U.S. is the speed at which those votes take place. In Canada, votes on average take place between seven and 10 working days following filing of the application²¹. In the U.S. the timelines are between 24 and 30 calendar days²².

The key reason for this difference is procedural. In the U.S., once an application is filed, the labour board must conduct a hearing to determine its validity. It must decide on a range of matters including appropriateness of the bargaining unit, and whether the union has demonstrated sufficient support. Both the union and employer are allowed to make presentations at the hearing and raise objections. The process can result in a delay of a couple of weeks or more before a vote is ordered. In Canada, those issues are expedited by the board and many objections are held in abeyance until after the ballots are cast (and before they are counted), resulting in a much shorter turn-around to the vote.

The time between application and vote is crucial in determining the success or failure of the vote. The longer it takes to reach the vote, the more likely the vote will fail²³. In the U.S., research has shown that a difference of even four days can make a difference²⁴. The main reason is a longer delay provides the employer with more time to communicate with workers and to organize a counter-campaign²⁵.

WEAK EMPLOYEE REMEDIES

The third divergence is in the area of penalties for violating the rules. Both countries offer remedies for employer or union violations of the regulations, often called unfair labour practices. While both parties can commit unfair labour practices, most complaints are lodged against employers (in part because many of the protections in legislation are aimed at workers). Labour boards conduct hearings to determine if an unfair labour practice took place. Remedies for employer misconduct in Canada vary by province but generally include a basket of measures including ordering a new vote, providing union access to the workplace and re-instating fired workers. Many provinces, including Alberta before Bill 32, also empower the labour board to grant automatic certification if they believe the violation to be significant enough.

Researchers in Canada point to the ineffectiveness of remedies in this country²⁶. In particular, labour boards' reluctance to use automatic certification undermines the impact of this remedy. The weakness of remedies is an ongoing concern among labour relations researchers and practitioners in all Canadian jurisdictions.

In the U.S., the range of remedies is similar but generally applied in a more conservative manner²⁷. Researchers in the U.S. have long argued remedies generally applied in certification vote violations are insufficient in exacting a financial cost and come too late in the process to deter employers from engaging in illegal activity²⁸. Unions file a complaint in only half the cases where an employer is reported to have engaged in illegal activity, with the lack of effective remedies cited as a main reason²⁹. In no jurisdiction is automatic certification an available remedy.

Inadequate remedies negatively impact certification votes because they create an incentive for employers to engage in active anti-union activities. "Consistently failing to award fully compensatory remedies for ULPs [unfair labour practices] encourages employer law-breaking by fostering the expectation that employers will not likely be required to answer fully for their wrongdoing ... These expectations shape actors' cost-benefit assessments and encourage lawbreaking by reducing the expected cost of violations for employers"³⁰. These findings are supported by research into employment regulation violations, which shows that imposing higher costs on employers for violations leads to greater compliance with regulations³¹.

While neither jurisdiction has a particularly effective system of remedies, the narrower scope and more conservative interpretations of the American system further erodes enforcement of labour relations law in the U.S. compared to Canada.

FIRST CONTRACT

Once certification is achieved, the workers are still not out of the woods. Collective representation is not solidified until a first contract is signed. In both countries, employers often use this uncertain period to make a final effort to thwart unionization. The most common tactic is to slow bargaining and delay a settlement as long as possible based on the calculation that the longer workers go without seeing a resolution, the less they will support the union. In both countries it has become increasingly difficult for unions to achieve a first collective agreement with a newly organized employer³².

This is an issue in both countries and to a degree there is little governments can do other than enforce existing rules and attempt to compel the parties to bargain in good faith. However, most jurisdictions in Canada have adopted a provision allowing the labour board to impose first contract arbitration where the unresolved issues are referred to an independent third party who will rule on the outstanding items. The arbitrator's decision is binding on both parties and thus it is a method for reaching a first contract and establishing stability in the labour relations environment. First contract arbitrations are effective in decreasing the number of new certifications that flounder before reaching a first agreement³³. First contract arbitrations also reduce the number of labour disputes arising from first contract negotiations³⁴.

There is no access to first contract arbitration³⁵ in the U.S., and recent efforts to incorporate it into U.S. law have failed. Combined with other provisions related to replacement workers and unilateral employer declarations (discussed below), workers in the U.S. are more likely to fail to reach a first agreement³⁶.

2. Internal Union Affairs and Dues Collection

The second major area of divergence is how governments approach unions' internal affairs, including collection of membership dues. Regulation of how unions operate and collect revenue may appear a technical matter, but it can profoundly impact how effective unions are at representing their members. How governments regulate union affairs is an area where Canada and the U.S. have differed significantly.

In Canada, unions have a fairly complex legal status, but generally are perceived by governments and the courts as a form of voluntary organization where they are accountable to their members through internal structures and processes, including a constitution and/or bylaws³⁷. As a consequence, Canadian governments have largely remained hands off regarding union internal affairs. Unions are provided the same degree of autonomy and self-governance as other non-profit voluntary organizations³⁸. Government intervention restricts itself to ensuring unions comply with their duty of fair representation of members as found in labour relations acts.

Conversely, since the 1950s the U.S. has stringently regulated the internal affairs of unions. The Labour Management Reporting and Disclosure Act (Landrum-Griffin Act), passed partly in response to reports of union corruption and links to criminal activity (e.g., Jimmy Hoffa), tightly regulates union elections, financial disclosure and membership accountability. Terms for elected officials are explicitly outlined, as is a requirement for secret ballot voting in union elections. Unions are required to file annual reports to the government, that are available to the public, detailing their financial position, union officer salaries, operating rules and other information. Observers note that "labor organizations are among the most regulated organizations in U.S. society today"³⁹.

Similarly, the two countries approach dues collection (sometimes called union security) differently. Unions' primary source of revenue is membership dues. Historically unions needed to collect dues directly from each member, a time- and resource-intensive process (although also facilitative for organizing). In the contemporary labour relations regime, both countries have established procedures for dues to be collected by the employer from worker paycheques and remitted to the union, something called "dues checkoff." The two nations handle dues checkoff differently.

In Canada, access to dues checkoff was established in a 1946 arbitration decision by Justice Ivan Rand. In what is known today as the Rand Formula, Justice Rand decided that while workers could not be compelled to join the union, they continue to reap the benefits of being covered by a collective agreement and therefore should be required to help finance the activities that bring those benefits⁴⁰. Rand was avoiding what is often called "the free

rider problem," where a collective good is undermined when a portion of the collective does not pay for the provision or upkeep of that good. The Rand Formula has been repeatedly confirmed as legal and constitutional and thus has become the norm in all jurisdictions⁴¹. Under Rand, workers can only opt out of union dues for a narrow range of reasons, such as religious denomination.

In the U.S., governments and the courts have placed a priority on their constitution's First Amendment right to free speech when addressing the issue of dues collection, arguing workers should not be required to financially support an organization whose activities they oppose. This has resulted in a complex set of arrangements around dues. First, the closed shop, where a worker must become a member of the union to remain employed at the workplace, is explicitly forbidden. Closed shops are rare in Canada but governments treat it as a matter for bargaining.

Dues checkoff has evolved in the U.S. into a multi-tiered structure. Workers can opt to become full members of the union, pay full union dues and receive the rights of membership (right to vote, participate in union activities, etc.), or they may choose to not join the union and pay agency fees. Agency fees are calculated as a percentage of dues used for core representational activities – collective bargaining, contract administration, grievance settlement. Other activities, such as education, community outreach, political donations and issue campaigns are excluded from agency fees.

To implement this two-tier system, unions are required annually to provide all workers they represent the percentage of dues used for non-representational activities and provide an opportunity for the worker to opt out of membership. They must then repay or reduce the dues paid by dissenting workers accordingly. Agency fees range according to union but average 75 per cent of full membership dues⁴².

A recent Supreme Court decision has upturned this two-tier structure for public sector unions. In 2018 the Court decided in Janus v. American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees (Janus) that requiring public sector workers to pay any union fees violated their right to free speech. As a result, unionized public sector workers can now opt out of union fees entirely while still benefitting from the rights and benefits afforded by the collective agreement. Unions are still legally required to represent workers who opt out. Two years after the decision, most public sector unions have not experienced significant drops in agency fee workers or revenues and many have seen modest membership increases⁴³. In this period, unions have launched extensive organizing efforts to convert agency fee workers to full membership, so it remains unclear of the longer-term effects of this court decision.

Two other developments further complicate dues collection in the U.S., both related to state's delegated authority to legislate in certain matters and jurisdiction of state employees. In recent years, some state governments have implemented legislation (often called "paycheck protection" acts) prohibiting the collection of union dues to be used for political purposes⁴⁴. Some versions require the member's consent to collect those dues while other versions ban the collection of dues for political activity entirely.

Second, in the Taft-Hartley Act, the federal government extended to the states the authority to pass legislation related to union membership. The authority allows state governments to decide whether dues, including agency fees, can be collected without a worker's consent⁴⁵. Currently, 27 states have passed legislation prohibiting union membership or agency fees as a condition of employment. These laws, commonly referred to as right-to-work laws, have the effect of requiring the union to receive the active and ongoing consent of each worker it represents to have dues deducted from their paycheque. Right-to-work provisions are highly controversial, including their name, and are generally associated with low unionization rates and lower income levels. Their economic effects will be discussed more fully in Part 4.

3. Labour Disputes

The third area of divergence is related to the regulation of strikes and lockouts. While both countries regulate the timing of strikes and the permissibility of strike activities, there are small but important differences in how they approach them.

As stated earlier, both countries prohibit most strikes during the life of a collective agreement and both require certain steps to be taken (e.g., mediation, strike vote, notice) for a strike or lockout to be legal. Both also prescribe what kinds of activity can take place during a strike.

In both nations, picketing is the standard activity during a strike/lockout. The governments and courts in each country have attempted to balance workers' right to express themselves with the rights of the employer and the public to not be unreasonably interfered with. Each has landed in a different place on that spectrum.

In Canada, rules on picketing vary considerably by province, but in general, picketing at the employer's workplace is permitted and that picketing can disrupt the movement of others to the extent to allow communication but not further⁴⁶. Violence or coercion is not permitted. Secondary picketing (picketing a location other than the workplace such as a supplier or customer) was once forbidden but due to court decisions these prohibitions were found to be contrary to the Charter of Rights and Freedoms (to be

discussed more fully in Part 3). Secondary picketing is now legal under similar circumstances as primary picketing.

U.S. courts have been somewhat more restrictive. Picketing activity is regulated by state and local laws and thus also varies by jurisdiction. Primary picketing is permitted, and protected by freedom of speech, but courts have been more acquiescent to employer's property rights and have been less open to economic disruption caused by picketing⁴⁷. Secondary picketing is also permitted in the U.S., but the law includes a specific limitation: "it is unlawful for a union to coerce a neutral employer to force it to cease doing business with a primary employer" In other words, a secondary picket can take place at a secondary location, the pickets can communicate with the owners or employees of the business or the public but cannot interfere with the operations of that business or attempt to compel the business to boycott or cease doing business with the employer at the heart of the dispute.

Another key issue is the use of replacement workers during a strike. Replacement workers are hired during a labour dispute to perform the work of the striking workers. They are highly controversial. Some research found that replacement workers prolong strikes and lead to lower wage settlements for workers⁴⁹. However, in general it has been difficult to isolate the effects of replacement workers due to the complexity of variables involved⁵⁰. Opponents argue the use of replacement workers undermines the union's ability to exact an economic price on the employer by allowing them to continue production. It is also logical to expect that replacement workers could increase the risk of violence on the picket line as strikers attempt to impede their access to the workplace. Only two provinces (B.C. and Quebec) prohibit the use of replacement workers in Canada. No jurisdiction in the U.S. prohibits them.

The key difference between Canada and the U.S. is that in Canada replacement workers are temporary and employers have a legal obligation to rehire striking workers upon resolution of the dispute (if the strike was legal). In the U.S., employers have the option of hiring replacement workers on a permanent basis and in most circumstances have no obligation to rehire striking workers. This vastly increases the risks of going on strike for American workers, as it is easier for the employer to avoid the economic costs and replace the workers entirely. As a result, the use of replacement workers reduces the incidence of strikes in the U.S.⁵¹.

4. Overall

Many of the differences between Canadian and American labour relations are small. However, small differences can lead to significant diversion in outcomes. The countries' relative unionization rates are a stark example of the different trajectories their labour relations regimes are pursuing. Unions in both countries are experiencing significant challenges in the face of neoliberalism, globalization and growing anti-union animus among employers and governments. However, the small, apparently technical, ways their laws regulate labour relations have led to sizeable differences in outcomes for the respective labour movements.

The key differences appear to be in how each country handles the balance between employer rights and worker rights. Measures that restrict workers' ability to exercise their rights, such as restricting picketing, making certification more difficult and regulating internal union affairs, lead to a labour relations environment that is more hostile to worker collective activity. Measures that expand employer rights have a similar effect.

On one level, whether these effects are positive or negative depend upon one's perspective on the value of unions. That is why these laws are controversial and divisive. However, the effects spill beyond unions and their members and touch upon the rights of all workers and have significant consequences for the economy and the social fabric. These spillover effects will be discussed in Part Four. First, it is important to understand what the provisions in Bill 32 are, which we turn to next.

Part Two: What is Bill 32?

Alberta's History of Anti-Union Legislation

Bill 32 is not the first time Alberta provincial governments have passed legislation aimed at revamping labour relations and restricting the rights of unionized workers. Here is a list of some examples of legislation targeting union rights.

1981: Bill 85: Labour Relations Amendment Act. This bill, introduced a few months after the passage of the Labour Relations Act, amended that new act by adding a provision that a union cannot be certified as a bargaining agent if support for the union was the result of picketing.

1983: Bill 44: Labour Statutes Amendment Act. This bill again amended the Labour Relations Act. It banned strikes for health-care workers, instituting a system of compulsory arbitration instead. It is also the first bill to introduce sweeping penalties against unions, union officials and workers who engage in an illegal strike. Unions could be fined \$1,000 per day, union officials up to \$10,000 and other individuals \$1,000. The bill also authorized the labour board to suspend the collection of dues to the offending union for up to six months. This penalty was unique in Canada and remained in place for decades.

1988: Bill 22: Labour Relations Code. In an overhaul of the labour relations system, this bill eliminated card check certification, removed automatic certification as a possible penalty for unfair labour practices, relaxed rules regarding employer involvement in certification campaigns, and implemented strict restrictions on picketing, including a complete ban on secondary picketing. Interestingly, this bill was introduced in response to employer backlash over a bill (Bill 60) introduced the previous year that provided a more balanced approach to labour relations.

2013: Bill 45: The Public Services Continuation Act. One of a pair of bills aimed at restricting public sector workers' rights. Bill 45 expanded the prohibition on public sector strikes to include any articulation of a "threat" to strike. It imposed significant penalties on unions and individuals who have been found to threaten strike action, including dues suspension and fines of up to \$1 million per day. Bill 45 was passed but never proclaimed and formally repealed in 2015.

2013: Bill 46: Public Service Salary Restraint Act. The second of the pair of bills imposed a wage settlement on public sector workers of zero increases in the first two years and one per cent increases in the third and fourth year (it also offered a small lump sum payment). Unions received an indefinite court injunction preventing the implementation of Bill 46.

2019: Bill 2: An Act to Make Alberta Open for Business. This bill introduced early in the United Conservative Party's (UCP's) term repealed two provisions enacted by the previous New Democratic Party (NDP) government. First it removed the automatic certification ("card check") provisions if 65per cent of workers sign cards. It also reduced the amount of time a union has to present signed cards from six months to 90 days.

2019: Bill 9: Public Sector Wage Arbitration Deferral Act. Public sector unions had signed collective agreements in the previous couple years that provided for a "wage re-opener" (where negotiations take place just over wages) in the last year of the agreement. Bill 9 unilaterally delayed the deadline for arbitration of these wage re-openers from June 30 to Oct. 31. Union efforts to prevent its implementation failed. Constitutional challenges on the bill are still outstanding.

2019: Bill 21: Ensuring Fiscal Sustainability Act. This omnibus bill included some provisions amending the Labour Relations Code. Specifically, it removed a ban on replacement workers in the public sector and authorized the provincial government to impose secret mandatory bargaining mandates on public sector employers.

2020: Bill 1: Critical Infrastructure Defence Act. This bill creates a new set of offences prohibiting interference or damage to "critical infrastructure." The term critical infrastructure is broadly defined and includes pipelines, manufacturing plants, refineries, roads and highways, agricultural operations, public utilities and more. Penalties range between \$1,000 and \$25,000 and/or up to six months imprisonment. The bill is widely viewed to include picketing activities as prohibited interference.

Bill 32, formally known as Restoring Balance in Alberta's Workplaces Act (2020), was introduced in the Alberta Legislature on July 7, 2020. It passed third reading on July 28 and received royal assent on July 29. Bill 32 is an omnibus bill amending six different employment and labour-related acts. The most extensive of the changes came to the Employment Standards Code and the Labour Relations Code (LRC). Inset 1 shows this is the latest in a series of legislation passed in Alberta's history targeting labour relations, including four additional bills introduced by the UCP government since 2019.

Changes to the Employment Standards Code include loosening of overtime rules by expanding "averaging arrangements," making it easier for employers to sidestep employment standards through "variances," and reducing employee protections related to layoffs. These changes are outside the scope of this report but are mentioned to highlight the sweeping nature of Bill 32's amendments.

This report will focus on nine significant changes that either curtail union activity or impair workers' right to organize and participate in a union: increased certification vote timelines; reduced employer penalties; prevention of open period; limitations to picketing activity; restrictions to secondary picketing; financial statement requirements; identification of political activities; mandatory dues opt-in; and, increased union penalties. There are additional changes, in particular to construction labour relations, which will not be addressed in this report. This section will examine the nine changes and explain how they diverge from previous legislative provisions. The relevant changes can be clustered into three themes based on what area of union activity is impacted.

Making it Harder to Join a Union

Bill 32 enacts three amendments that will make it harder for workers to exercise their democratic right to choose representation by a union. This section will summarize the amendments and discuss their impact on workers' right to organize a union.

Certification Vote Timelines

Before Bill 32, the Labour Relations Code (LRC) laid out a series of deadlines within which the Alberta Labour Relations Board (ALRB) must consider and decide upon an application for certification. From the date the union files the application, the entire process must have been completed, including a final decision, within 20 working days (25 days if using a mail-in ballot) unless granted an extension by the ALRB chair. Provisions also ensured the certification vote was held no more than 13 working days from date

of application (14 for mail-in). There were also deadlines for steps in the process, such as when employer needs to provide information to the ALRB. These provisions were implemented by the previous NDP government in 2017. Previously the LRC required a vote "as soon as possible."

Bill 32 removes these detailed timelines and deadlines and replaces it with a six-month deadline for completion and only requires the ALRB hold the certification vote "as soon as possible" (s. 34), a return to the pre-NDP terminology. While the previous timelines in the LRC were broadly comparable to other jurisdictions, Bill 32 returns Alberta's provision to among the weakest. Table 1 outlines certification provisions for each jurisdiction. The table shows that most jurisdictions opt for either automatic certification or a legislated timeline. Only Alberta and Saskatchewan provide neither.

Table 1: Certification Procedures, Canadian Jurisdictions

	Legislated Timeline to Vote	Automatic Certification
British Columbia	Five days	No
Alberta Pre-2019	13 days	Yes
Alberta Bill 32	"as soon as possible"	No
Saskatchewan	None	No
Manitoba	Seven days	No
Ontario	Five days	No
Quebec	None (60 days to final decision)	Yes
New Brunswick	None	Yes
Nova Scotia	Five days	No
PEI	None	Yes
Newfoundland	Five days	No
Federal	None	Yes

Source: Applicable Labour Legislation

2. Weakened Employer Penalties

Before Bill 32, the LRC contained two provisions aimed at reducing employer union avoidance strategies. The first was a provision permitting the ALRB to automatically certify a bargaining unit if the employer was found to have committed an unfair labour practice during the certification process that significantly interfered with workers' right to choose unionization. A second was to permit the ALRB, upon application by one of the parties, to order binding arbitration to resolve a dispute between the parties involving the negotiation of a first agreement. Both of these provisions were introduced by the previous NDP government.

Bill 32 does not remove these provisions directly. The ALRB continues to have the discretion to impose remedial automatic certification and first contract arbitration. However, in both sections a key phrase has been added. Related to automatic certification, the following is added to s.17(1): "certify the trade union as the bargaining agent for the employees in the unit that the Board considers appropriate for collective bargaining only if no other remedy or remedies would be sufficient to counteract the effects of the prohibited practice" (emphasis added). A similar phrase is added to s.92.3 for first contract arbitration directing when the ALRB can impose arbitration: "(c) no other remedy or remedies would be sufficient to counteract the effects of the failure to comply with the act". In both cases, the discretion of the ALRB is reduced and the measures can only be considered if all other actions have been rejected.

Remedial certification is available in most jurisdictions in Canada. Bill 32 replicates language recently introduced in Ontario, which also makes certification a remedy of last resort. A form of first contract arbitration is found in every jurisdiction except New Brunswick and P.E.I.

3. Preventing Open Periods

Before Bill 32, the LRC created a period during the valid term of a collective agreement where applications to leave or switch unions are permitted. These so-called "open periods" provide workers a legal opportunity to "change their minds" about whether they wish to be represented by a union or which union will represent them. In the LRC, the open period consisted of 60 days before the expiry of the agreement and a 60-day window each year for agreements longer than two years.

Bill 32 inserts language permitting the employer and the union to sign a new collective agreement before the open period begins, an action previously not permitted. A majority of members must vote in favour of the new agreement and the union must inform them that doing so would prevent the open period.

The concept of the open period may be confusing for those not engaged in labour relations. It is an important manifestation of workers' democratic right to choose whether to be represented by a union. Much of the attention is on protecting that right when workers first move to join a union, which is when they are most vulnerable to employer attempts to undermine that right. However, to fully actualize the right, workers must also be able to choose to leave or switch union representation. Open periods were created to balance workers' right with the need for stability following the signing of a collective agreement. Employers and unions have a legitimate interest in knowing that for a period of time the terms of the employment relationship will remain unchanged, including that the workers will be represented by

the union. During that time applications to decertify or change unions are not allowed. However, workers' consent to be represented is not forever. The open period provides a window of time during the life of each collective agreement when such applications are permitted. It is the time period when workers can act upon their right to change the nature of their representation.

The prevention of open periods was an allowed practice in Alberta until 2009, when an ALRB decision (Firestone [2009] Alta. L.R.B.R. 134) ruled that it violated workers' rights to choose their representation. The decision was the culmination of a series of controversial cases where unions signed early agreements expressly to avoid the threat of a raid by another union. The practice was also encouraged by employers seeking to retain a more employer-friendly union in the workplace. Bill 32 re-establishes the practice of preventing open periods and effectively overturns the ALRB decision.

Restricting Union Activities

Bill 32 also enacts two measures that restrict union activities. Specifically, it implements limitations on picket lines during labour disputes that substantially reduce the effectiveness of picket lines. This section outlines these restrictions.

1. Picket Line Limitations

Under the division regulating strikes, lockouts and picketing, Bill 32 adds the following section: "obstructing or impeding a person who wishes to cross a picket line from crossing the picket line is a wrongful act" (s.84(3.1)). The context for this provision is found in the section immediately preceding which stipulates that picketing "must be conducted without wrongful acts." The effect of this addition is clear. The act of stopping, blocking or delaying anyone who wishes to cross a picket line becomes illegal under Bill 32.

Picketing is a central activity during a labour dispute and serves multiple purposes. First, it signals to customers, other workers and the public that a dispute is ongoing. Awareness is important for drawing attention to the dispute. Second, the picket line provides workers an opportunity to communicate with potential customers about the dispute and encourage them to not patronize the employer until it is resolved. Third, it creates a physical presence to make it more difficult for the employer to engage in their regular business operations. Picket lines slow or impede traffic in and out of the business. This third purpose is both one of the most important functions of a picket line and one of the most controversial. For a strike to be successful, the workers must find a way to inflict costs on the employer and the most common method is to interfere with business operations. In contrast, employers seek to minimize disruption by circumventing or restricting picketing activity.

Legislation in most jurisdictions is either silent on picketing activity or contains vague language regarding prohibited activities, leaving the responsibility for interpreting what is legitimate activity to the labour boards and the courts. Alberta's language is the most restrictive in the country. The effects of this change will be discussed more fully in Part 3.

2. Secondary Picketing Restrictions

A group of striking workers may decide to establish a picket line at a location other than the workplace(s) of the employer engaged in the dispute. The location might be a supplier or customer of the employer, an associated location owned by the employer, or a third party engaging in activities that aid the employer during the dispute. These forms of picket lines are referred to as secondary picketing and they are considered legal forms of expression (a topic discussed further in Part 3). Bill 32 restricts secondary picketing by enacting a new requirement that a union must seek and receive permission from the ALRB before it engages in any secondary picketing (s. 84.1). The ALRB is also empowered to place any conditions on the nature of the picket as it sees fit.

B.C.'s legislation contains similar provisions to Bill 32. All other jurisdictions opt to not actively regulate secondary picketing, leaving its application to labour boards and the courts.

Interfering With and Penalizing Unions

Bill 32 also contains four provisions designed to either increase penalties on unions for legal infractions or to make it more difficult for unions to conduct the affairs of their organization. This section examines those provisions.

1. Financial Statements

Bill 32 adds a new clause (s.24.1) which imposes a requirement on unions to provide an annual financial statement "to each member" of the union. The bill allows for regulations to stipulate the information and form the statement must take.

As part of accountability to their members, most unions already make available a financial statement of some form. These are usually presented at the union's annual general meeting or convention. Therefore on the surface this provision does not appear to be onerous. However, two aspects of the provision should be noted. First, the provision allows the government to determine the form and content of the statement, which may deviate significantly from the accounting and reporting practices of the union. Second, the provision requires the statement be provided to every member. While it does not indicate how it shall be provided (which could make up part of the regulation), the requirement deviates significantly from current union practice.

Labour legislation in most Canadian jurisdictions contains provisions requiring a union to provide financial statements to a member upon request. No jurisdiction goes as far as to impose mandatory distribution to all members. The Harper Conservative government passed legislation in its final term, Bill C-377, that imposed stringent public financial reporting on unions. The bill was repealed by the Trudeau government before coming into force⁵².

2. Identifying Political Activities

Another new provision (s.26.1(1)) requires unions to indicate the percentage of dues dedicated to core activities related to representing members and fulfilling legal obligations and the percentage used for "political activities and other causes." These other activities are broadly defined (s.26.1(1)(a)):

- 1. General social causes or issues
- 2. Charities or non-governmental organizations
- 3. Organizations or groups affiliated with or supportive of a political party
- 4. Any activities provided by the regulations

Alberta is the only jurisdiction in Canada to require unions to categorize their expenses in this manner. The provision will likely impose significant administrative burden on union operations as they will be required to classify every expenditure as core or other. Regulations clarifying the definition of each category have not been released, leading to confusion about how to proceed with the classification.

3. Dues Opt-In Requirement

The purpose of requiring unions to identify the share of non-representation activities is to give form to a related new provision (s.26.1(2) to 26.1(11)) requiring members to only pay the portion of dues related to core activities unless they elect to pay the full amount. In other words, every individual member must actively opt-in to dues dedicated for other activities.

Specifically, the union must provide every member with information regarding the percentage of dues used for non-representational purposes and provide the member the opportunity to "elect" to pay that portion of dues. Members will periodically be provided an opportunity to revoke any previously made election. Further, unions are prohibited from using dues collected for core activities for any other purpose and they are prohibited from taking any disciplinary action against a member who has not opted-in. When, how often and by what method such opt-ins will take place are subject to regulations, which have not been released at the time of writing.

This provision is unprecedented in Canada. No other jurisdiction has any requirements regarding allocation of dues and opting-in/out of paying of non-representational dues.

4. Increased Penalties

Two new provisions in Bill 32 seek to increase penalties for unions who breach the LRC. The first (s.57(1) & (2)) imposes an additional penalty on unions who breach the LRC during a certification drive. The LRC has long had a 90-day "cooling off period" when a certification application fails or is withdrawn. This is to prevent repeated or vexatious applications without merit and requires the union to start the process over. With Bill 32, a union who is found to have engaged in "a prohibited practice," more commonly known as an unfair labour practice (ULP), during the drive is prohibited from filing a new application for the same bargaining unit for six months. This new penalty is in contrast to the weakened remedies applied against employers who engage in prohibited practices, discussed above.

The second provision (s.114) re-inserts a provision removed by the previous NDP government that permits the LRB to order a suspension of dues forwarded to a union by the employer for a period of six months if the union is found to have engaged in an illegal strike. This penalty is in addition to the fines that can be levied to the union, its officers and/or members (s.160). The union retains the legal right to collect dues directly from members. Bill 32 also inserts a parallel penalty against employers who engage in an illegal lockout (s.115), requiring them to submit dues to the union during an illegal lockout.

Part Three: The Effects of Bill 32

The previous part briefly outlined some of the practical implications of key provisions found in Bill 32. However, the effects of the Bill go beyond the specific measures enacted. When examined as a whole the Bill presents a large-scale reworking of Alberta's labour relations system. It directly impacts workers' ability to join a union and undermines unions' ability to represent their members. It is a significant regulatory shift in favour of employers. In many respects it introduces characteristics of the American labour relations system in Alberta.

The effects of Bill 32 go beyond labour relations and the specific rights of workers and unions. Many of the rights associated with unionization and union activity are protected by the *Charter of Rights and Freedoms*. Many of the changes in Bill 32 threaten those charter protected rights. The notion of undermining charter rights reverberates beyond labour and has implications for many segments of civil society. It is not only unions who will be losers under Bill 32.

This part will examine the broader effects of Bill 32. First it will examine the impact Bill 32 will have on labour relations in Alberta and how it Americanizes regulation of labour relations in the province. Then it will discuss the bill's implications for charter-protected rights in Alberta.

Effects of Labour Relations

Labour relations systems are more than a series of laws and regulations. They are the result of a matrix of economic, political, and legal factors. Legal scholar David Doorey has observed that every law related to work "is a result of the interaction among a variety of forces, including fierce debates, rich histories, reluctant compromises and sometimes violent and bloody clashes. The laws that govern work in any society emerge from this complex milieu. Therefore, we need to understand that legal rules do not operate in a vacuum"⁵³. Understanding this, we need to see the changes enacted in Bill 32 as more than the sum of their parts. The individual amendments interact with one another to create broader impacts on the system as a whole. Small changes that may on the surface seem minimal, combine with other factors to shift dynamics within the system.

More specifically, the changes brought forth by Bill 32 do more than change legal details. They will change the parties' behaviour by providing incentives and disincentives for certain actions. They alter the balance of power between the parties by providing more or fewer avenues for each party to exert power. Finally, the changes communicate a political context for labour relations, signaling whose interests will be considered paramount in any conflict.

To this end, we need to go beyond an analysis of individual amendments to understand how the package will alter Alberta's labour relations system. Many of the impacts will be profound. The broader impacts can be clustered into the same three categories as discussed in Part Two.

1. Making it Harder to Join a Union

The changes focused on certification combine to make it more difficult for workers to exercise their democratic right to join a union. They do so by removing the checks and balances established to contain and manage the actions of the parties. In particular, they remove protections that might inhibit employer interference in the certification process. The amendments will trigger changes in employer behaviour as they adjust to the new legal landscape. Research suggests that the nature of the amendments will lead to weakened access to unionization. They will do this in a number of ways.

If we look first at the removal of timelines for certification votes we find that the changes are likely to undermine workers' democratic voice.

The key concern is the prospect of employer interference in the process. Under Canada's labour relations system it is workers' democratic right to decide whether to be represented by a union free of employer interference. Minimizing the opportunity for employers to interfere in certification decisions is the general motivation for governments to regulate this activity⁵⁴. In most cases, before the application is filed the union and its supporters are working in secret and the employer may not be aware of the organizing campaign. Upon filing the application, the desire of the workers to be represented by a union becomes public. The more time available between the application and the vote, the greater the opportunity for the employer to actively engage in the workers' decision process.

Employer engagement in the certification process is problematic. While most jurisdictions, including Alberta, afford employers a right to free speech to articulate their interests, the scope of what is an allowable action is bounded to prevent the employer from unduly influencing workers. However, determining what is appropriate or inappropriate employer engagement can be difficult. Research has found that employer campaigns against unionization have increased in both frequency and intensity⁵⁵. Inappropriate employer interference is also on the ris⁵⁶.

These patterns are relevant, as they demonstrate that lengthening the time between application and vote increases the risks that employers will interfere with the process. As discussed earlier, studies have consistently shown that certification success rates drop when jurisdictions shift from automatic certification to mandatory representation vote and even further when the time period between application and vote increases⁵⁷. Most scholars

conclude that the key variable is the opportunity for employers to influence workers at the worksite, a captive environment where the employer exerts disproportionate influence⁵⁸.

Extending or removing legislated timelines leads to longer delays. National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) data in the U.S. shows that under a series of changes enacted in 2015 by President Obama the median number of days from petition (application) date to election (vote) date dropped by over two weeks (from 40 days to 24 days). They then increased again to 31 days after Trump repealed some elements of the reforms, including increasing timelines⁵⁹. Further, the longer timelines are correlated with lower success rates in those elections⁶⁰. It is expected that under Bill 32, the number of days to reach a certification will increase. The consequence of a delay is the increased likelihood that employer involvement will lead to fewer successful certifications.

The ALRB does not release data regarding time lapsed from application to vote. It does provide data on certification applications and results. As of the time of writing the last available year is 2018/19, the second fiscal year the NDP amendments regarding automatic certification and timelines for votes were in force. During the two years with those provisions, 55.0 per cent (187 of 340) of applications were successful. In the two years immediately prior 51.7 per cent (104/201) of applications were certified⁶¹. Caution must be taken in interpreting this data as the sample size (two years) is small and many certifications fail for procedural reasons unrelated to the legislative changes. Without reliable data on election timelines it is difficult to reach firm conclusions. However, there does appear to be a small positive effect on certifications, likely due mostly to the automatic certification provision which removes completely the opportunity for employer interference.

Even if a certification vote is successful the workers and their union are not yet out of the woods. As discussed above, the period from certification to first contract also provides opportunity for an employer to overturn workers' unionization decision. During this timeframe there is no agreement in place to bind the actions of the parties, the union has not yet established its rights to represent the workers, and the workers have only minimal legislative protection. About 25 to 40 per cent of first contract negotiations end in failure⁶².

It is noted that Bill 32 does not remove the option first contract arbitration; it is maintained as remedy of last resort. However, here it is important to remember that the labour relations system is more than a set of specific legal provisions. The broader context of Bill 32 needs to be considered. The downgrading of first contract arbitration is one part of a multi-faceted political agenda, in Bill 32 and beyond, aimed at shifting the balance of power between workers and employers. The ALRB, granted the authority to adjudicate labour relations conflicts, is a quasi-judicial body independent from government control. However, the ALRB is a creation of the provincial government, the ALRB members are appointed by the government, and the ALRB is bound by the mandate and directions provided by legislation. Board members, when ruling on future cases, will read and attempt to interpret the intentions of the legislators when deciding appropriate remedies. Classifying first contract arbitration as a remedy of last resort will decrease the likelihood of their use. In analyses of Bill 32, employer-side lawyers and advocacy groups have pointed to these changes as significant (and positive), suggesting they see the potential benefit in such language⁶³.

The provision allowing the closure of open periods may seem, on the surface, to be a measure that will benefit unions by permitting them, along with the employer, to circumvent open periods, thus securing their certification. From one perspective, permitting workers to consent to an early application of a new collective agreement is unproblematic. If they are content with their representation, closing the open period is moot. If they are not content, theoretically, they could reject the new agreement and wait for the open period.

In practice, closing opening periods is more likely to protect weaker unions from accountability to their members. There have been documented cases in Alberta and Ontario where a union more inclined to collaborate with the employer has colluded with the employer to prevent an open period application to switch unions by disgruntled workers through early renewal of collective agreements, thus closing the opening period prematurely⁶⁴. A coalition of construction employers and an "alternative" union have been lobbying since for this provision to be included in the LRC⁶⁵. In the light of the history of its use, open periods can be seen as a potential threat to workers wishing stronger representation of their interests. The provision is more likely to shield a weaker union from accountability to its members than it is to increase security for traditional unions.

2. Restricting Union Activities

Where the amendments just discussed are aimed at making it less likely a worker joins a union, the two changes targeting picketing are designed to reduce the effectiveness when workers go on strike. Strikes and lockouts are controversial actions. They are also rare, as the vast majority of collective agreements are settled without a strike/lockout.

It is important to take a step back and consider the purpose of a strike or lockout. The parties have been unable to come to an agreement through negotiation. A strike/lockout is about increasing the price of not finding a settlement. Both parties pay a cost for engaging in a strike/lockout. The workers lose wages and private sector employers lose profits through reduced or halted operations. In the case of public sector strikes, the employer (the government) risks the loss of political capital through inability to deliver services and/or reduced public support. If the price of not settling becomes high enough, one or both of the parties will decide to shift their position to facilitate a settlement. This reality means that both parties will attempt to minimize their costs while trying to maximize the other party's costs.

In this dynamic the picket line plays a central role. Picket lines serve as a barrier to accessing the workplace. An effective picket line prevents people from crossing and thereby disrupts employer operations. A weak (or no) picket line makes it easier for the employer to maintain operations and lowers their economic price of the dispute. The less affected operations are, the longer the employer can maintain a strike/lockout, thus increasing the economic price for the workers.

Historically, governments and the courts have attempted to balance the parties' conflicting interests when establishing rules around picketing⁶⁶. Bill 32 shifts this balance in favour of employer interests by reducing the ability of strikers to slow down traffic in and out of the workplace. While the new provision has not yet received clear interpretation by the LRB, its scope raises legitimate questions about whether striking workers can even stop members of the public to discuss the dispute. It most certainly prevents picket lines from slowing trucks, replacement workers or managers going in or out of the workplace, which undoubtedly reduces the economic price the employer pays for the dispute, making it more likely disputes will be resolved in employers' favour.

Similarly, Bill 32's provisions regarding secondary picketing have the consequence of undermining their effectiveness. By requiring LRB permission for a secondary picket, the government is taking direct control of when, where, and how secondary picketing can take place. This control is likely to lead to fewer secondary pickets, which can be an effective strategy for placing pressure on the employer via its allies and business partners. The

provision also reduces the effectiveness of secondary picketing by removing the element of surprise. All parties will be aware well in advance when and where a secondary picket will be established. This notice provides time for the employer and their targeted allies to prepare a response to the picket. By undermining the effectiveness of secondary picketing, the union's range of tactics to increase the economic price on the employer is reduced and thus shifts the advantage in a labour dispute to the employer.

3. Penalizing Unions

The effect of Bill 32's provisions imposing new reporting requirements and dues opt-in and increasing penalties for union misconduct may not be clear at first. Both have a disproportionate and punitive effect on union activities.

Looking at increased penalties, on the surface this may seem not unreasonable. Creating consequences for illegal actions have long been a part of Canada's labour relations legal regime and attempting to deter undesirable actions is not unreasonable. However, it is important to see the changes in Bill 32, in particular the imposition of a dues suspension, in the broader context of how penalties are utilized in labour relations.

When a labour board finds misconduct has occurred any penalties imposed are remedial in nature (which is why they are called "remedies"). The goal is to nullify the effect of the misconduct and establish conditions that replicate those that would occur as if the act had never taken place. For example, an employer who illegally fires a worker for union activity may be ordered to re-instate the worker. If a certification vote is deemed to have been interfered with, a new vote may be ordered. Even remedial certification is an attempt to remove the impact of the illegal actions by "reflecting" the workers' true intentions.

All Canadian jurisdictions also contain provisions dealing with non-compliance with a labour board order by permitting the offence to be prosecuted in the courts and fines levied against the offending party. Maximum fines are laid out in the labour relations act. In Alberta for general offences an individual can be fined \$5,000 and employers and unions up to \$100,000. There are also specific fines for illegal strikes/lockouts. These fines are to create some material consequence for not complying with a board order and are rarely assessed.

By re-introducing a six-month dues suspension, Bill 32 adds an additional layer of penalties against an offending union. Alberta is the only jurisdiction in Canada to impose such a penalty and there is no similar remedy in the U.S., making this a truly unique measure. The previous version of the dues suspension penalty was only applied once, a two-month suspension to Alberta Union of Provincial Employees (AUPE) after an illegal strike in 2000. The penalty was upheld as legal by the courts⁶⁷.

Dues suspension, which can cost unions hundreds of thousands of dollars, are a powerful deterrent for illegal strike action, although it is impossible to know if unions have ever shied away from illegal action in fear of its imposition. The question is whether the penalty is proportionate to the nature of the misconduct. The contrast to penalties imposed on employer for interfering with workers' right to associate, which remain remedial and impose no financial cost, is also noteworthy.

The new reporting and dues opt-in provisions have the potential to significantly impact union operations. It is difficult to know how burdensome providing financial statements and categorizing spending will be for unions, however it is likely to be more than inconsequential. If we look to the one precedent on financial reporting, the Harper government's Bill C-377 which imposed stringent public financial reporting on unions, then we may be able to surmise that the impact could be greater than anticipated. That bill, which laid out a long list of requirements, was heavily criticized for its over-reach and its disproportionate impact on union operations⁶⁸. The extent of the financial reporting under Bill 32 is as yet unknown as the regulations have not been released, but the parallel is worth noting.

While the administrative burden of providing financial statements and categorizing spending activity is irksome and will come with some financial impact, it is a minor inconvenience compared to the opt-in requirements. As mentioned above, the financial impact of opt-in requirements have the potential to be severe, both in revenue reduction and additional costs to collect opt-ins.

The dues opt-in is unprecedented in Canada and reflects an American approach to union dues. In fact this provision goes further than most similar U.S. provisions as it sets opting out as the default and workers must actively provide consent. It is more in line with state-level efforts to prohibit dues for non-representational purposes. The provision will hamper union's ability to exercise its functions by reducing the revenue available to conduct its work. It is also a significant break from how governments and the courts in Canada have traditionally approached internal union affairs. It is also a direct repudiation of the long-accepted Rand Formula, establishing a free rider problem where workers receive the benefit of union representation

without having to pay a full share of the costs of ensuring that benefit. The provision is highly punitive and will have significant impact on internal union operations.

Bill 32 and the Charter

The effects of Bill 32 go beyond shifting dynamics in the labour relations system. Many of the measures impact rights protected by the Charter of Rights and Freedoms. In that regard, the changes threaten to undermine worker rights at a fundamental level. In doing so, they raise questions about how the bill impacts the rights not just of unions and their members, but of all Albertans. There may be consequences, intended or unintended, for a range of groups in civil society. This section will briefly outline the relevant sections of the charter that relate to Bill 32 and the current status of jurisprudence in labour-related matters. It will then discuss the possible ramifications of Bill 32's provisions for those rights. The following is a broad summary of charter jurisprudence and is not intended to be a complete legal analysis.

1. Relevant Charter Rights

Since its enactment in 1982 governments and the courts have attempted to interpret how the rights listed in the charter's 32 sections apply to different aspects of Canadians' lives. The charter has had a large impact on how we view the rights of Canadians as workers. In general, collective rights – rights that are only exercised by groups rather than individuals (such as the right to strike) – have generally not fit well into the individualistic logic of the charter. However, in the past 20 years thinking about how the charter applies to employment-related matters has evolved. Initially the courts defined such collective rights narrowly, essentially only extending the right to organize through the freedom of association, but courts have recently expanded the scope of the charter's application to the right to collective bargaining and the right to strike.

Two sections of the charter are most germane to labour-related rights: freedom of expression (section 2(b)) and freedom of association (section 2(d)). The courts also consider in all charter cases the impact of section 1, which outlines the reasonable limits for the expression of these rights.

FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION

Section 2 lists freedoms considered fundamental and held by everyone. Section 2(b) identifies expression as a fundamental freedom. Its specific wording is "freedom of thought, belief, opinion and expression, including freedom of the press and other media of communication." The courts have

interpreted freedom of expression broadly, arguing it should be restricted by government only in the rarest of circumstances. The courts have regularly ruled that "any interference with the freedom of expression that is more than trivial or insubstantial is sufficient to establish a violation of section 2(b)"⁶⁹.

FREEDOM OF ASSOCIATION

Section 2(d) reads: "freedom of association." Defining association has proven to be challenging and the courts have shifted significantly over its scope. At its core it is based in the notion that "an individual has the freedom to do in association what he or she may do lawfully alone" However the courts have debated whether it also extends to actions that cannot be completed individually, introducing a component of collectivity to the freedom. Recently the courts have adopted this broader understanding of association 1.

REASONABLE LIMITS

The charter begins in section 1 with this statement: "The Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms guarantees the rights and freedoms set out in it subject only to such reasonable limits prescribed by law as can be demonstrably justified in a free and democratic society." It is intended to place the rights laid out in the sections that follow in context. Its intention is to ensure that individual rights and freedoms are appropriately balanced by the broader public interest.

What has emerged as a consequence of section 1 is that the courts apply a "proportionality test" to government actions being challenged as violations of the charter. To put it simply, the courts take the position that a government action can violate the charter but still be allowed to stand if it meets certain criteria. The government must have a pressing and substantial objective for its actions. If that pre-condition is found to exist, the courts then move to a three-part test known as the Oakes Test72. First, the action must be a rational connection between the action and the objectives it is designed to meet (rational connection test). Second, the action should impair as little as possible the freedom or right in question (minimal impairment test). Third, there must be proportionality between the effects of the measure and the importance of the objective (balance of harm test). A government action deemed to have violated a charter right must pass all three components of the test to prevent being struck down.

2. Current Status of Labour Charter Rights

As mentioned, the status of labour-related rights under the charter has evolved over time⁷³. Early on, in a series of decisions known as the Labour Trilogy, the courts agreed that the right to form and join unions was a protected freedom of association but at the time did not extend that protection to union activities such as collective bargaining and strikes.

The courts have had a conflicted understanding of picketing and the charter. They have long recognized that many picket line activities, such as placards, leaflets, talking to people, attempts at persuasion and the presence of a picket line itself are protected forms of expression under s.2(b). Decisions have been clear that laws prohibiting or unreasonably restricting secondary picketing are a violation of the charter (e.g., RWDSU Local 558 v. Pepsi-Cola 2002). The courts have been less clear on the signal and physical barrier aspects of pickets and have attempted to balance the expressive and coercive elements⁷⁴. Many legal scholars argue that recent decisions point in the direction of greater protection for picket line activities as forms of expression. "It is fair to say that there has been a recent movement by the Supreme Court toward recognizing broader expressive rights for unions and workers, particularly in the context of otherwise lawful picketing and strike action"⁷⁵.

The courts' thinking has evolved on freedom of association as well. The current state of collective bargaining and strikes as protected rights is complex and lawyers and legal scholars hold ranging views. It is widely accepted that both are broadly protected under section 2(d) as being necessary to give meaning to the right to associate in a workplace context. Governments cannot act to prohibit or suspend workers' access to collective bargaining or cancel a collectively bargained contract if the action amounts to a "substantial interference" with a "meaningful process of collective bargaining" and the government failed to bargain or consult in good faith. Neither can governments act in a fashion that bans the right of workers to strike or that renders that strike "effectively meaningless" The meanings and boundaries of the terms are the source of the complexity and the primary subjects of ongoing legal action and will continue to evolve.

The logic of recent jurisprudence around labour rights and the charter expresses a link between individual rights and freedoms expressly included in the charter and the collective action required to give those rights meaning. The courts have come to recognize that the freedom to express and associate can only be manifested in a workplace context through collective action due to inherent power imbalances at work. As the Supreme Court indicated in SFL v. Saskatchewan (2015): "this Court has long recognized the deep inequalities that structure the relationship between employers and

employees, and the vulnerability of employees in this context. While strike activity itself does not guarantee that a labour dispute will be resolved in any particular manner, or that it will be resolved at all, it is the possibility of a strike which enables workers to negotiate their employment terms on a more equal footing."

Labour rights under the charter are linked. For the freedom to associate through a union to have meaning, workers must have access to meaningful collective bargaining. For collective bargaining to be meaningful workers must have access to the right to collectively remove their labour, in other words the right to strike. And the right to strike must be sufficient to allow it to contribute to the collective bargaining process. Governments retain the ability to regulate aspects of these rights, in particular to balance other rights, but they can no longer act in an arbitrary manner that undermines these core rights.

3. Bill 32 and the Charter

In the context of current jurisprudence regarding labour rights, many of the changes proposed in Bill 32 can be seen as problematic and possibly contrary to charter protections. While Bill 32's provisions explicitly target activities related to labour charter rights their impact will be felt far beyond workers in or wishing to be in unions. The changes also have direct and indirect effects on all Albertans. This section examines some of those effects.

Restricting Activities

Bill 32's provisions related to picketing activity and secondary picketing speak directly to the efforts of the courts to find a balance between picketers' right to expression and prevention of coercive effect. As stated, it is widely accepted that the expressive elements of picketing should not be unduly restricted. It is equally clear that acts of physical violence or intimidation are not acceptable picket line activities. The areas in between are much more difficult to determine. For this reason most Canadian governments have left the determination of valid picketing activities to the labour relations boards and the courts to rule on a case-by-case basis using the specific facts of each case.

Most provinces' labour relations acts are silent on the issues of picketing activity and the minority that do regulate picketing activity minimize the degree of restriction. New Brunswick, for example, grants striking workers the right to persuade people to not do business with the employer "without acts that are otherwise unlawful" (s.104(1)). Manitoba does not directly address picketing but does define strike-related misconduct as "incitement, intimidation, coercion, provocation, infiltration, surveillance or any similar conduct intended to interfere with, obstruct, prevent, restrain or disrupt the exercise of any right under this Act in anticipation of, or during, a lockout or legal strike" (definitions, p. 6). These wordings are intentionally vague as to allow maximum interpretative latitude by the board and the courts.

Further, some jurisdictions, such as B.C. and New Brunswick, encode active protections for the persuasive elements of picketing by explicitly allowing such activity. Overall, between legislation and jurisprudence there is a broad consensus that some degree of inconvenience is permitted as picketing activity and, thus, protected as free expression. In practice, slight delays of traffic in and out of the workplace has been viewed as a reasonable infringement for the purposes of protecting the right to free expression⁷⁷.

In contrast, Bill 32 offers a more sweeping prohibition on picketing activity. The section contains no reference to intimidation, coercion or other terms that express the intent of permitting free expression by curbing the elements of picketing with which the courts have been uncomfortable. Without anchoring the provision to coercive acts it is unclear how broadly to interpret the phrase "obstructing or impeding." As a result, it is possible that persuasive acts can be included in the prohibition. For example, to talk to a member of the public a picketer is required to momentarily slow their progress to make their case. They might wish to briefly stop a vehicle to hand out a leaflet. Under Bill 32 it is possible these actions would be interpreted as obstructing or impeding and therefore prohibited.

The consequence of this possibility is instantly clear. If the provisions prevent striking workers from momentarily delaying people crossing the picket line, their freedom of expression is curtailed. The provisions may overreach, moving beyond prohibiting coercive aspects of picketing and restricting expressive elements. Such a restriction could be considered a violation of the workers' charter-protected rights.

A similar situation exists for the provisions addressing secondary picketing. Legislation in every jurisdiction in Canada, except B.C., are silent about secondary picketing, once again leaving this activity for the courts to determine what is allowed. By remaining silent in legislation these jurisdictions have allowed the moving consensus in common law to govern the boundaries of secondary picketing.

B.C. has a similar provision to that found in Bill 32, requiring the labour board to provide permission for picketing to take place at a location other than the employee's workplace. However, the B.C. Act explicitly excludes from the requirement activities normally associated with secondary picketing by removing them from the definition of picketing. The definition of picketing "does not include lawful consumer leafleting that does not unduly restrict access to or egress from that place of business, operations or employment or prevent employees from working at or from that place of employment" (s.1). This new language was implemented in 2019 to bring the definition in line with the charter⁷⁸.

Bill 32 implements similar LRB control over secondary picketing. By requiring LRB approval, the Alberta government has shifted from allowing the courts to interpret the boundaries of free expression during secondary pickets to directly regulating secondary pickets. In other words, Bill 32 provides the government with the power to determine when, where, and how striking workers' will be allowed to express themselves. This is a significant shift in practice.

Further, Bill 32 does not provide the same definitional clarity as B.C.'s act. As currently worded, any expressive activity taken by striking workers at locations other than the workplace are illegal unless authorized by the LRB. The scope of this prohibition, and its consequences, are best explained through two scenarios. In the first scenario a group of consumers are boycotting a store. They gather in front of the store (on public property) with leaflets about the boycott and briefly stop customers before they enter the store to give them the leaflet and explain the purpose of the boycott. As long as the protesters do not unduly impede the ability of the public to enter the store and do not use threats, violence or coercion to intimidate the public, their action is legal and fully protected by the charter.

In the second scenario, the group of people are workers engaged in a legal strike against an employer. If they gather in front of a store that sells items produced by their employer and briefly stop customers to share information about the strike that activity would be illegal under the provisions of Bill 32 unless the LRB has authorized that activity. The only fact that has changed in the two scenarios is that in the latter the workers are on strike. This highlights the importance of B.C.'s definitional boundary and Bill 32's lack of one. An act is being curtailed by law solely because it takes place in the context of a strike, which may be a violation of the charter.

Further, the restrictions run contrary to the Supreme Court's position on picketing, namely that activity and not location should determine what is allowed and not allowed. "Secondary picketing has been, as we have seen, location defined. Indeed, many of the difficulties the courts have encountered over the years in defining secondary picketing flow from how to determine the relevant location. A conduct approach based on tortious and criminal acts does not depend on location. All picketing is allowed, whether "primary" or "secondary," unless it involves tortious or criminal conduct" Destablishing separate rules for secondary picketing attempts to re-establish the rejected location-based definition of picketing.

It is not yet known how the LRB or the courts will interpret the new provisions. However, Bill 32 deviates significantly from the norm of Canadian labour law as to raise red flags about its impact. Where most jurisdictions are silent on picketing or provide a balance of protecting expression while regulating coercion in order to maintain adherence to the charter, Bill 32 actively interferes with striking workers' ability to express themselves on picket lines.

EFFECT ON ALBERTANS

The Alberta government's willingness to interfere with workers' freedom of expression is not just a matter of concern for unions and their supporters. It is a tendency that could impact all Albertans. The freedom of expression forms one of the fundamental rights in a democratic society. Bill 32 is one of a series of moves made by the current Alberta government to place roadblocks to Albertans' exercising this freedom. The Critical Infrastructure Defence Act, passed in 2020, prohibits anyone from "obstructing, interrupting or interfering" with critical infrastructure such as highways, pipelines or utilities. While the provisions of that act have not yet been tested in court, and an analysis of the legislation is beyond the scope of this report, many rights advocates have decried the legislation as contravening the charter⁸⁰. The United Conservative government has also unilaterally voided the province's contracts with doctors and eliminated many worker health and safety protections in Bill 47: Ensuring Safety and Cutting Red Tape Act.

No one likes strikes. Yet, strikes and the activities associated with them are an essential component of democratic free expression. The restrictions on picketing activity have the dual consequence of making strikes less effective – making workers' ability to defend their rights weaker – and of curtailing legitimate avenues for freedom of expression – undermining all Albertans' democratic rights.

Penalizing Unions

Bill 32 also enacts a series of measures that aim to interfere with the internal operations of unions, specifically those requiring distribution of annual financial statements, identification of percentage of dues for non-representational activities and requiring individual member election to collect non-representational dues. These measures have significant practical impact on unions, in particular a negative financial consequence. They also raise questions about the right to associate and the right to free expression under the charter. Further, there are potential impacts on charities, community organizations and the rights of all Albertans. There are four areas of concern.

INTERFERENCE IN A PRIVATE ORGANIZATION

First, the provisions mark a disproportionate interference in the internal operations of a private organization, which impacts members' right to associate. They do so in two ways. Bill 32 requires unions to distribute to all members an annual financial statement. The content of the financial statements are to be defined in regulation, which have not yet been released. The provision deviates from longstanding Canadian practice regarding the regulation of internal union affairs. Canadian governments have adopted an approach of "statutory abstinence" 81 where they do not regulate unions' internal affairs. Similarly the courts have viewed the membership relationships of unions as "purely personal and contractual, and they therefore would not review an internal decision of a union except on narrow procedural grounds"82. In short, unions have legal status of voluntary organizations, which means governments have a minimal role in regulating their operations. The Bill 32 provision is more reflective of the approach taken in the U.S., where governments place stringent rules around financial reporting and accountability to members.

The Bill 32 provisions regarding financial statements go beyond what the government requires for non-profit societies, the closest analogy to unions. The Societies Act states that a society "shall hold an annual general meeting in Alberta and shall present at that meeting a financial statement setting out its income, disbursements, assets and liabilities, audited and signed by

the society's auditor" (s.25). Since regulations addressing the content of union financial statements has not been released, we cannot know if they will be more stringent than these broad requirements in the Societies Act. What we do know is that the requirement in Bill 32 that the statements be distributed to "each member" goes beyond requirements of non-profit societies, who are only required to present statements at the annual general meeting.

Governments have taken a more active role in prescribing creation and distribution of financial statements in corporations, requiring they be distributed to all shareholders and outlining in regulation the information to be provided (Business Corporations Act and Regulation). However, it is widely recognized that corporations possess a very different relationship to their shareholders, who are not members but investors, and their fiduciary responsibility to those shareholders – and the degree of financial investment at stake – require a higher degree of regulation.

The second way Bill 32 interferes with a private organization is the government imposed division of the organization's activities. The government, through regulation, will define what activities are "representational" and therefore mandatory and what activities are non-representational and therefore optional. Normally for voluntary associations the setting of membership dues and the use of those dues is a purely internal matter, governed by the bylaws or constitution of the association. It is an unprecedented intrusion into the autonomy of a private organization for the government to define what activities a member should or should not pay.

Further, it is imposing an authorization process on the organization, indicating what form a member's consent will take. Again, this is something all voluntary organizations address internally through bylaws or policies, and government-imposed rules are without precedent in Canada.

MISUNDERSTANDING REPRESENTATIONAL ACTIVITY

The second area of concern is that the legislation fundamentally misunderstands the nature of unions' representation function. The regulations outlining specific activities have not yet been released. However, the act is quite clear in its demarcation. Representational activities are viewed to be restricted to the narrow band of responsibilities outlined by the LRC and are specifically linked to "collective bargaining and representation of members."

The logic behind the division is reductionist and not reflective of the complexity of "representation" in a collective bargaining context. While the work of bargaining, managing grievances and handling workplace-specific issues is an integral part of a union's responsibilities to members, it is not the only facet of its obligations. Unions also have a responsibility to attend to the broader wellbeing of their members. There is a long history of activities that members have reasonably come to expect as part of the union's commitment to serving its members.

Since their formation, unions have concerned themselves with members' economic and social welfare. Early unions created benevolence funds to financially support members and their families who could not work due to injury or illness. Social and community gatherings were central aspects of union membership, where members and families were brought together to build community spirit. Early craft unions engaged in training of apprentices and created health benefit packages for members.⁸³

Representation is not just about what unions win at the bargaining table. Today building trade unions administer health and pensions plans for their members, whose work involves multiple employers. Other unions will establish benefit plans for workers in workplaces where the union has not yet been organized. Some unions organize and represent groups of workers who do not yet have a legal bargaining agent (often referred to as "associate members" or "community members")⁸⁴. In these cases, while the union cannot formally bargain with the employer they can advocate for these workers, provide assistance with employment standards and other complaints, and provide health and other benefit packages.

Unions employ staff who address specific areas of membership concerns not strictly related to collective bargaining. Most unions have specialized staff to address Workers' Compensation Board claims, occupational health and safety issues, and/or human rights concerns. They also have education departments mandated to provide training to members. All unions actively engage in education of members to build bargaining and representational skills (through shop steward or collective bargaining training), to teach workplace-related skills (e.g., occupational health and safety or workplace privacy training), or to increase members' ability to advocate for themselves (e.g., anti-racism or leadership training).

Unions also engage with organizations outside the workplace to advance their members' interests. They may support charities who do work that benefit their members. They may employ organizations, such as Parkland Institute, to conduct research on issues that affect their members and make the union more effective representing them. Unions, either directly or through non-partisan advocacy organizations, may lobby and campaign for policy or legislative changes that will benefit their workers. Although unions are not permitted to donate to political parties in Alberta, they can engage in political campaigns in support or opposition of electoral candidates and may choose to do so if they believe the candidate will benefit their members' interests.

Most of the activities outlined above would be considered non-representational under the provisions of Bill 32 and therefore subject to individual member election to have dues deducted for this purpose. Without the regulations it is impossible to be certain which would be allowed and which wouldn't. However, even this uncertainty highlights that the problem is the line between representational and non-representational cannot be drawn neatly and functions may serve both a representational and non-representational purpose simultaneously.

Representation takes many forms. For example, a union may choose to bargain stronger health and safety protections for its members through the collective agreement. Under Bill 32 that is considered representational. Instead, the union may opt to lobby the government for changes to occupational health and safety regulations to enact similar improvements. That activity is considered non-representational, even though its purpose is identical – to achieve greater safety protections for the union's members.

The matter becomes more complex. The union may choose to educate their members on how to advocate for safety improvements in the workplace. Under Bill 32 that is in a grey zone. Contracting to a consultant to conduct research into the hazards at the workplace may be non-representational. If the union donated money to a non-profit organization that conducts occupational health and safety training and advocacy, that would be considered non-representational. Providing income or other support to workers injured on the job (for example if Workers' Compensation Board benefits are denied) may also be non-representational.

The example highlights the logical pitfall in attempting to demarcate forms of activity for which dues are mandatory. Bill 32 reduces the union's role to a narrow definition of bargaining and legal representation, potentially excluding many aspects of union activity that is directly linked to representing the interests of its members. Aside from presenting a fundamental misunderstanding of unions' representative role, the task of deciding what activities are representational should be that of the members, not the government.

It should also be noted all the activities mentioned are functions that any voluntary organization has the legal right to take part in, and their right to determine if and how to do it are protected under the association provisions of the charter. The issue is that these provisions take away union members' autonomy to decide what they consider representational and non-representational activities. Members are presented with two options – agree to pay dues that fund ALL union activities or only pay the portion of dues the government decides are representational. In other forms of voluntary associations members have the authority to determine how to interpret

the mandate of the association and what activities align with that mandate. Having the government interpret the meaning of the association mandate is unprecedented and possibly contrary to members' freedom to associate.

associate. They do so in two ways. Bill 32 requires unions to distribute to all members an annual financial statement. The content of the financial statements are to be defined in regulation, which have not yet been released.

EXPANDING THE FREEDOM TO NOT ASSOCIATE

The provisions related to dues and non-representational activity relate to a longstanding political debate in Canada. Specifically, for three to four decades many groups have advocated that union members should not be required to pay for activities with which they do not agree⁸⁵. The groups argue that mandatory dues equate to forced association and thus contravenes the charter.

Negative freedom of association, or freedom to not associate, is accepted as part of the charter. For example, someone cannot be compelled to express something they do not believe and people have a right of freedom from religion. It is similarly true that workers have a freedom to not associate under s.2(d).

The source of opponents' of mandatory dues concern originates in the Rand Formula which requires workers represented by a union to pay dues even if they are not a member. While this has been a long-established practice in Canadian labour relations, it has raised the ire of anti-union advocates who consider it a form of forced association.

The concept of requiring all workers to pay for the benefits of unionization has held up under legal scrutiny. As a result, advocates against compelled union dues have turned their attention to the portion of dues not directly used for collective agreement administration. In other words, they argue Rand does not extend to political, community or other forms of activities since those activities do not relate to necessary financing of union activities. The core of their argument is that workers should not have to pay for campaigns and activities they do not personally support. Bill 32 enacts the proposals of these advocates by restricting mandatory dues to representational activities only.

Opponents of mandatory dues raise the specter of forced association, arguing paying dues amounts to a violation of the right to not associate. However, the question is not whether workers have a right to not associate and a right against compelled or forced association. Canadians possess the freedom to not associate. The question is whether simple payment of dues amounts to forced association and whether their payment is justified under the charter.

It is not at all clear that payment of dues equates to association. Is paying money sufficient to be considered association? That matter is unclear. Regardless of the legal answer to that question, the courts have ruled that mandatory dues are justified under the charter.

The Supreme Court of Canada has twice ruled that workers can be compelled to pay union dues for activities not directly associated with administration of the agreement. The justices in both Lavigne v. Ontario Public Service Employees Union (1991) and R. v. Advance Cutting & Coring Ltd. (2001) decided that while a formal right to not associate exists and that right is violated by the Rand Formula (Lavigne) and compulsory unionism (Advance Cutting), but that the actions in question are "saved" by section 1 because unions serve an important function in society beyond their role in representing members. It is worth quoting from Lavigne at length on this question:

The state objectives in compelling the payment of union dues which can be used to assist causes unrelated to collective bargaining are to enable unions to participate in the broader political, economic and social debates in society, and to contribute to democracy in the workplace. These objectives are rationally connected to the means chosen to advance them, that is the requirement that all members of a unionized workplace contribute to union coffers without any guarantee as to how their contributions will be used. The minimal impairment test is also met. An opting-out formula could seriously undermine the unions' financial base and the spirit of solidarity so important to the emotional and symbolic underpinnings of unionism. The alternative of having the government draw up guidelines as to what would be deemed valid union expenditures could give rise to the implication that union members are incapable of controlling their institutions. Given the difficulty of determining whether a particular cause is or is not related to the collective bargaining process, the courts should not involve themselves in drawing such lines on a case-by-case basis.

It is noteworthy the Supreme Court explicitly recognized the problem created by governments or the courts determining what activities are directly related to collective bargaining in that it undermines workers' autonomy over their organization, as discussed above. It also acknowledges that there is no simple divide between activities aimed at the workplace and activities contributing to debates in society. *Lavigne* has stood as the precedent around union dues for 30 years.

Bill 32 is the manifestation of a new strategy regarding mandatory dues. The courts have clearly upheld mandatory dues as justifiable under the charter. Bill 32 aims to enact a more aggressive expression of the right to not associate through legislation by requiring opt-in for non-representational dues. Whether this more aggressive interpretation is constitutional is an open question. Where Lavigne answered the question that compulsory dues are constitutional, Bill 32 is attempting to legislate a ban on compulsory dues. The courts have not yet addressed whether governments have a right to impose a two-tier dues structure on unions. While the strict legal issues are different, politically Bill 32 is clearly an attempt to overturn Lavigne.

Further, there is no evidence that the current system for membership accountability over union activities is broken. Unions are directed by their membership, either directly or through elected representatives, regarding which activities they can undertake. In other words, unions take direction from their members about which activities the members are comfortable undertaking. For example, while some unions opt to actively support political parties, others have taken clear non-partisan stands. These positions reflect the priorities and wishes of their respective memberships. The status quo does not provide members with an individual right to opt-out of such decisions but it does provide a mechanism for the exercise of democratic rights within the organization. Like all democratic structures, members are not guaranteed a specific outcome but they are afforded a transparent process for articulating their opinion on a subject. Canadians do not possess the right to opt out of a portion of taxes that fund government spending with which they do not agree because it is universally held that compulsory taxation serves a greater public good and government's power to tax is built upon a foundation of democratic decision making by citizens, justifying it under the charter. A similar justification holds for compulsory union dues. The public interest in union engagement with public debate combined with unions' robust democratic internal structures provide a justification for mandatory dues.

The provisions in Bill 32 instead appear to take their inspiration from the United States. Laws in the U.S. restricting the collection of union dues, including agency fee rules and recent state-level actions, are anchored in their First Amendment, which guarantees the right to free speech. This apparently fine legal point alters the analysis the court applies to issues related to union dues. In the U.S. union non-representative activity is viewed through a lens of compelled speech, supporting a view one does not agree with. In contrast, Canadian courts have interpreted union dues as an issue of association, which changes the frame of the issue. Bill 32 attempts to move toward a more American understanding of dues and individual rights.

TARGETING UNIONS' FREEDOM OF FREE EXPRESSION

The fourth area of concern regarding the dues restriction provisions relates to section 2(b), the freedom of expression. Bill 32's provisions do not directly address freedom of expression as unions and their allies continue to have the right to participate in public debate and have the resources to disseminate their views. However, the bill's provisions privilege individuals' right to not express over the organizations' right to express. This shift inserts an American understanding of free expression as it relates to union activity. Further, the dues opt-in measures are intended as a directed political attack on viewpoints opposed to the current government. This targeting is a problematic interference with democratic debate.

One of the complications in this issue is that the provisions target unions' access to money, not their right to express opinions. Money is not expression, although the courts have recognized that the use of money to facilitate expression is an aspect of the freedom⁸⁶. An example of this recognition is that the courts have upheld laws that regulate political spending (e.g., *B.C. Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Association v. B.C. 2017*), but they have done so by saving provisions using section 1, a recognition that such laws violate an aspect of the freedom but are justified due to their function in protecting elections. Courts have struck down legislation restricting how organizations, such as charities, use their money (e.g., *Canada Without Poverty v. AG Canada 2018*). However, in both of these examples, the issue centred on the *use* of money, not how it was collected. Bill 32 targets the latter and not the former. In this way, it moves onto ground not addressed by existing jurisprudence.

That said, the provisions clearly articulate a new approach to balancing the freedom of organizations to express themselves with that of individuals within an organization to object to that expression. As discussed earlier, the courts have been reluctant to interfere with the internal affairs of voluntary organizations, including unions, the internal democratic processes being deemed sufficient protection. Bill 32 expresses a lack of confidence in those internal processes and elevates an individual right to disagree with the union, a right *to not* express as it were. The courts have treated union dues as an issue of association and not expression, so this approach introduces a new perspective on how union dues and union activity should be interpreted. It is one that prioritizes the right of the individual over that of the organization of which they are a part. This position is a clear attempt to insert American legal approaches into the Canadian context where dues are seen as an extension of free speech, rather than association. How the courts will respond to this new interpretation is unknown.

Even if a legal argument could be made in defense of the opt-in provisions through freedom of expression, the explicitly political motivations for the measures and their targeted nature make them highly problematic. Requirements found in electoral financing legislation, for example, apply equally to all individuals and organizations, which is one of the reasons the courts have saved the provisions. Bill 32 explicitly targets only one segment of civil society.

The UCP government has been open about the motivation behind these measures. In the Assembly, UCP cabinet ministers and members of the legislative assembly using hyperbole and personal attacks made clear their goal is to target political activities opposed to the government agenda:

I think it's unfortunate that Gil McGowan, the union boss for the NDP, the head of the NDP, the guy who is calling and begging the NDP to filibuster this bill to be able to make sure that hard-working union members have to still give him union dues to spend it on his political interests, is campaigning against things that are against their interests. (Jason Nixon, July 22, 2020, Hansard p.2339)

Now, if union workers, Madam Speaker, don't want to support their union boss, Gil McGowan, if they don't want to support those campaigns or they don't want to support campaigns against the very industries that they are employed in, then they should have a choice not to fund those types of activities that threaten their very livelihood. They should not have to fund anti oil and gas, antipipeline campaigns if they don't want to. They should have a choice for their hard-working dollars, where those dollars go and whether they support those campaigns. (Rebecca Schulz, July 14, 2020, Hansard p.2021)

A Tweet from the UCP Caucus goes even further: "If groups like the AFL, that are embedded in the NDP constitution, want to use dues collected from workers to oppose pipelines and run big campaigns, their members deserve *a choice* on whether or not their money is used to fund AFL's political activism!" 87

These comments reveal the political intentions of the provisions. The government is not expressing concern that unions donate money to charity or run education courses using compulsory dues. They are explicitly targeting the political activities of unions, in particular those that may run contrary to the government's agenda. The rather absurd political rhetoric aside, the commentary reveals a goal of undermining the voice of unions in political debate.

The effects of the opt-in provisions need to be understood in the context of this political goal. The government's expressed intention is to restrict access to member dues for political purposes and require unions to divert resources to obtaining opt-in. The overall result is less money (through reduced dues and increased costs) available to unions for political advocacy. Less money means unions will be less effective at engaging in advocacy and participating in public debate on key issues. A weakened union voice in democratic debate is the government's primary goal in enacting these provisions. It can be argued their appeal to individuals' right to choose is a convenient cover for their political agenda.

The effects of the provisions go beyond unions. It is well known unions contribute, financially and in-kind, to a range of community advocacy organizations. These organizations, often reflecting a broad cross-section of civil society, participate in public debate about contemporary policy and political issues. They may conduct and disseminate research, coordinate public awareness campaigns, engage in community organizing, purchase advertising, or directly lobby government.

If unions' ability to garner resources for non-representational activity is restricted, then their ability to contribute to these broader civil society efforts is also weakened. As a consequence the effectiveness of these coalitions is undermined. Unions are not the only segment of civil society with sufficient resources to support extensive participation in public debate, but their available resources and willingness to utilize those resources are significant. If unions' ability to contribute to civil society efforts is curtailed, as Bill 32 explicitly indicates, the effectiveness of those efforts is weakened. Bill 32 does not only target union expression, but the expression of a wide range of community groups and organizations engaging in public debate. It is an attempt to weaken the government's political opponents.

EFFECT ON ALBERTANS

To many people, undermining the ability of unions to participate in politics and public debate may not seem like a bad thing. Unions are polarizing institutions. Unions and their civil society allies usually advocate for policy solutions that are described as progressive or left-of-centre. Often the issues unions talk about are controversial and divide public opinion. They may be highly unpopular among some segments of society. Bringing them down a peg or two may not seem unreasonable to some.

That is why it is important to understand Bill 32's provision in context of the freedom of expression. The core principle of freedom of expression is that it is a fundamental building block for a free and democratic society. Freedom of expression ensures that voices, no matter how unpopular, can be heard and have space within public debate. The ability to hear multiple perspectives is a

pre-requisite for democracy. One need not agree with the positions unions and their allies take to value the need for those positions to be articulated effectively and openly.

By targeting unions' freedom of expression, Bill 32 affects all Albertans. Restricting unions' ability to use their resources weakens their ability to participate fully in public discourse, which weakens the quality of that discourse. A weaker public discourse leads to a more fragile democracy, where only some voices become dominant. Inequality of access to public debate is an ongoing issue in western democracies, and government actions like Bill 32 contribute to that inequality.

Given the focused nature of Bill 32, it can be argued that the provisions are an attempt to silence the government's political opponents. The government is not curtailing all actors' ability to communicate with the public, only those allied with unions. The real concern about these provisions of Bill 32 is their targeted nature. They only apply to one set of views, not equally across the political spectrum (such as with electoral financing rules). And while the provisions only make accessing resources for political activities more difficult and do not prevent those activities outright, the precedent of singling out one political perspective for punitive regulation is troubling. It speaks to an animus that is both anti-democratic and anti-worker.

Punishing Unions

The third basket of provisions returns attention to the right to associate. Amendments to alter penalties for unions and employers, to eliminate certification vote timelines and to allow for the elimination of open periods all make it more difficult for workers to exercise their right to association under the charter. The difficulty arises due to the known impacts such provisions have on success rates for certification. As discussed in a previous section research shows that these provisions decrease certification success, in effect making it more difficult for workers to translate their desire for unionization into legal certification by providing more latitude and fewer consequences for employers to interfere in the process and disproportionately penalizing unions for misconduct.

The right to associate related to specific elements of the labour relations system is not well defined. The courts have taken the position that the charter protects workers' right to associate through collectively participating in a union but that protection does not extend to any specific model of collective representation⁸⁸. In other words the government has a positive obligation to ensure labour relations rules do not unduly infringe on workers' right to join a union. For example, laws prohibiting collective bargaining for some workers or placing excessive restrictions on how they can form unions are clearly contrary to the charter. However, the specific

model used in Canada to determine union representation – the Wagner Model – is not expressly protected. Governments could authorize some alternate form of union recognition (e.g., minority unionism) and that action would be constitutional.

The upshot is that changes to the details of the certification process, even if they have a detrimental effect on certification success rates, are likely not to be found in contravention of the charter. Delaying certification votes is not a serious enough breach of association rights to warrant a charter challenge unless that delay could be demonstrated to render success impossible. The provisions in Bill 32 are unlikely to reach that bar.

However, it is still worthwhile to consider the negative implications for the right to association. Any government regulation that makes it more challenging for workers to translate their desire for a union into legal representation strikes at the freedom to associate. As discussed, all labour relations legislation is a mixture of measures that curtail workers' freedom of action and measures that protect workers' freedom through restrictions on employer action. Most legislation aims to create a balance between the two sets of interests. Bill 32, with its diverging consequences for employers and workers, alters that balance toward employer interests. That shift weakens workers' freedom to associate, even if it does not undermine it entirely.

In recent jurisprudence the courts have developed a concept of "meaningful" access to collective bargaining. This concept recognizes that providing a formal right is rendered moot if the necessary co-requisites are not also provided. The courts have linked the right to collective bargaining with the right to strike using this logic. It could be useful to apply this logic to certification. If the roadblocks to legally certifying a union are significant enough to make it almost impossible to achieve certification then workers do not have meaningful access to unionization. Without meaningful access to unionization, workers' freedom to associate is compromised. Bill 32 may not reach the point of making access to unionization meaningless, but it does tilt the balance away from meaningful access and that is a step backward for the freedom to associate.

The certification and penalty provisions in Bill 32 mark a shift toward a more American approach to these issues, where long delays and nearly unfettered employer involvement have, in many respects, rendered access to unionization in the United States meaningless. A recent case in point is the failed certification vote at the Amazon plant in Bessemer Alabama. More than 60 per cent of workers at the plant had signed union cards, an indication of support for the union. The much delayed vote resulted in fewer than 30 per cent of workers voting to unionize⁸⁹. Observers point to Amazon's aggressive anti-union campaign as the reason for the flip⁹⁰. Many

of the tactics utilized by Amazon would be prohibited under Canadian law (it should be noted the union is challenging some of Amazon's tactics).

Bill 32 opens the door to increased employer interference in certification elections by removing timelines and reducing penalties. While the provisions will not result in Alabama-like conditions, it will increase the frequency and effectiveness of employer interventions. This is significant because allowing employer interference in the certification process is one of the most significant barriers to successful certification, meaning employer interference poses the biggest threat to workers' freedom to associate. Any move in the direction of greater employer interference is a concern.

EFFECT ON ALBERTANS

The details of labour relations regulation are normally not a matter of concern for most Albertans. At any given time only a small fraction of workers are actively seeking unionization. Only a couple hundred certification applications are filed in Alberta each year⁹¹. However, if we link these rules to the broader principle of the freedom to associate, small changes can have a big significance. All Albertans have a stake in ensuring that charter-protected rights have meaning. The freedom of association is most vulnerable at the workplace because of the power imbalance that exists there. Government action that aims to undermine that freedom, even if it is only for a small percentage of people, should be a matter of concern for all Albertans.

Part Four: Social and Economic Consequences of Anti-Union Legislation

Bill 32 is designed to shift the balance in labour relations to employers at the expense of unionized workers and their unions. Experience from other jurisdictions demonstrate that such anti-union measures have more than just an effect on unions and unionized workplaces. Instead, anti-union legislation has lasting social and economic impacts. These impacts affect all residents of a jurisdiction. This part will examine the research into anti-union measures enacted in the U.S. to provide insight into what might happen in Alberta if Bill 32 were to remain in force.

The U.S. Experience

Part One of this report outlined some of the key ways in which labour relations in the U.S. deviates from Canada. Much of that deviation has been due to specific legislation passed by states to undermine the effectiveness of unions in their jurisdiction and by U.S. courts finding a different balance regarding rights in the workplace. There have been two broad approaches to curtailing union rights in the U.S: restrictions on dues collections and union membership; and government-imposed collective bargaining rules.

Restrictions on dues collections such as partial agency fees have been discussed earlier in this report. The most extensive effort in this area has been the imposition of "Right-to-Work" laws prohibiting mandatory collection of union dues. Right-to-work (RTW) is highly controversial and has been the subject of extensive research into its effects. Currently 27 states have enacted some version of RTW. Alberta has considered, and rejected, RTW twice in its history (see Inset 2).

The second approach is more recent. States enact bills that severely constrain the scope of bargaining and impose contract terms on public sector workers, often in the name of fiscal management. The highest profile example of this approach is Wisconsin. In 2011 the Wisconsin government passed Act 10, a sweeping legislation overhauling public sector labour relations in the state. First, it reduced the scope of bargaining to wages only, prohibiting discussions over any other matter and restricted collective agreements to terms of one year. Second, it regulated that wage increases could not exceed rate of inflation. Third, it unilaterally increased employee contributions to health and pension plans. Fourth, it made public sector strikes illegal and empowered the Governor to fire any worker who engaged in strike action. Fifth, it stripped the right to unionize from a range of occupations,

including child care workers and home-care workers. In addition to these measures aimed directly at bargaining, Act 10 also enacted RTW-like rules, including a ban on mandatory dues, prohibition of payroll deduction, and mandatory annual re-certification elections. In 2015, the same government enacted a series of RTW provisions affecting private sector unions in the state Wisconsin unions challenged the constitutionality of Act 10, but the Wisconsin Supreme Court upheld it as valid, citing that collective bargaining is a statutory, not constitutional, right in the U.S⁹⁴.

The consequences of the recent Janus decision also need to be taken into account, as in that decision the U.S. Supreme Court in effect instituted RTW across the public sector. The constitutional prohibition on mandatory union dues has the same effect as state-level RTW laws and may even have a more profound effect given the size and scope of public sector unionism in the U.S. as more than 50 per cent of union members are in the public sector and union density is five times higher in the public sector compared to the private sector ⁹⁵.

Bill 32 does not go as far as RTW, the Wisconsin Model or the Janus decision. Those provisions are both starker and more sweeping. However, there is no question that Bill 32 moves in the direction of these laws and it contains many elements in common with the U.S. measures. Therefore there is some merit in examining the broader economic and social impacts of these policies.

Alberta's History of Right-to-Work

At least twice in Alberta's recent history the provincial government has considered implementing right-to-work provisions in law.

- In 1987 during consultations on revamping the Labour Relations Act some employer groups advocated for right-to-work provisions. Many argue such provisions were actively considered by the government before ultimately opting to reject them⁹⁶.
- In 1995 a motion moved by a government backbencher, Gary Friedel, called on the government to study the economic benefits of right-to-work legislation. Upon its approval, the government established a review committee. The committee recommended against right-to-work arguing that Alberta's economic environment was sufficiently competitive without it⁹⁷.

Effects on Unionization

The most direct and obvious consequence of anti-union laws is their impact on unionization rates and union effectiveness. Researchers agree that RTW and other anti-union measures reduce the number of union members and the number of workers covered by a collective agreement. There is also evidence that these measures make it harder for workers to organize unions. However, it is less clear that it makes unions less effective at making gains for their members.

Overall, unionization rates in RTW states are half that of non-RTW states (6.5 per cent to 13.9 per cent)⁹⁸. Further, there is clear evidence that RTW laws lead to a decline in union membership and union coverage⁹⁹. One recent study found RTW leads to a decrease of 23.6 per cent in public sector union coverage and a 22.2 per cent decrease in the private sector¹⁰⁰. Of the overall decline in U.S. union membership over the past four decades three per cent to eight per cent is attributable to the growth in RTW measures¹⁰¹.

The Wisconsin Model led to a reduction in public sector union membership by 28.4 per cent in the years that followed. One study of four state public sector unions found a 70 per cent decline in membership, mostly attributable to the complete collapse of one of the unions¹⁰². Wisconsin's follow-up RTW laws led to a 38 per cent reduction in the private sector¹⁰³. The National Education Association, the union representing teachers and educators and one of the largest unions impacted by Janus, has estimated that it will experience a 10 per cent membership reduction following the decision¹⁰⁴.

That anti-union measures lead to lower union membership is not a surprise. Proponents openly acknowledge that is the purpose of the legislation ¹⁰⁵. There are two mechanisms that are found to trigger the reduction. First is the

increase in free riding – workers receiving benefits of unionization without contributing to the costs of that benefit. Free riding is directly linked to lower union density¹⁰⁶. States that switch to RTW experience a 54.2 per cent increase in the occurrence of free riding¹⁰⁷. Second, RTW makes it more difficult to join unions. In economic terms RTW laws "tend to successfully increase the costs of remaining in and joining labor unions"¹⁰⁸. These dual effects, easier to drop out and harder to opt in, lead directly to fewer union members. The upshot of these findings is that the drop in membership is not an indication of workers' desire for unions, but a reflection of the economic cost-benefit calculation being knocked off-balance in favour of not being a union member.

Further, anti-union laws make it more difficult to organize a union. RTW states have almost half the number of NLRB-supervised certification votes as non-RTW states and those votes are less likely to be successful 109. Strikes are also far less frequent in RTW states. "There were as many walkouts in, say, Illinois (30 strikes) and Pennsylvania (10) as there were in all 27 right-to-work states. Add in California (30) and Washington (15), and those four non-right-to-work states alone more than double the output of the right-to-work club when it comes to labor unrest" 110.

If you are an opponent of unions, those findings may read like good news. However, lower certification attempts and victories and reduced strike activities are signals that workers find it hard to exercise their democratic rights in the workplace. Legal obstacles increase the cost of exercising these rights and reduce the prospect of success, leading workers to make a calculation against attempting unionization. Lower union activity is not necessarily an indication of worker interest in unions, but rather can be a consequence of a legal regime that restricts access to organizing and mobilizing. Unionization activity must be understood in the broader context in which it takes place.

Paradoxically, the one area where RTW does not seem to impact unions is in the union wage premium. The wage (and benefit) premium is the difference unionized workers earn compared to non-unionized workers. In the U.S. the overall wage premium is about 19 per cent (about \$4.65 an hour)¹¹¹. In Canada, it is between eight per cent and 15 per cent (\$2.50 to \$5 per hour)¹¹². Unionized workers are also more likely to have benefit and pension plans¹¹³. These premiums have declined somewhat in recent years but have been relatively persistent.

Interestingly, research has shown that the wage premium remains or even increases in RTW states¹¹⁴. While average wages drop overall (to be discussed below), the gap between union and non-union workplaces is not affected. Even in RTW regimes workers make economic gains through

union membership¹¹⁵. These findings suggest that anti-union measures have an impact not by undercutting union effectiveness overall but by reducing the opportunities for workers' desire for unionization to translate into certification¹¹⁶. In other words, anti-union legislation targets workers' rights to expression and to assembly by placing roadblocks in the exercise of those rights.

Effects on Wages and Economic Growth

The most contested terrain regarding anti-union legislation is its impact on jobs, economic growth, and wages. Proponents argue for RTW and other measures on the basis that they will result in increased employment, investment, and economic growth. Opponents have long argued that anti-union measures drive down wages.

Macro-economic analysis analyzing RTW vs. non-RTW states over the past few decades generally finds that RTW states have had higher rates of economic and employment growth over time¹¹⁷. The numbers can vary based on the type of analysis performed. One study found RTW states had an average increase in real GDP of 3.32 per cent annually over a thirty-year period, compared to 2.58 per cent for non-RTW states¹¹⁸. Other studies have compared economic growth in border counties (one in RTW, one in non-RTW) to attempt to control for variations in economic contexts with similar results¹¹⁹. Results such as these have anchored the RTW debate for some time.

More recent research has developed a more nuanced understanding of the economic impacts. First, it has been found that much of the effect found in the national-level comparisons can be attributed to the differing starting places for respective states¹²⁰. The first RTW states in the 1940s were found in the south, while non-RTW states were primarily in the northeast and west coast. Comparatively the RTW states were less economically developed than the non-RTW states and therefore went through different economic stages in the ensuing decades and would be expected to grow at a faster pace, in part due to their lower starting point. It can be difficult to isolate the effects of RTW measures amidst this historical divergence¹²¹.

Second, researchers have pointed out that much of the research on economic growth has relied on difference of mean between the two groups. In other words, the research reports averages, which can conceal important aspects of distribution. "The problem with averages presented in the absence of standard deviations is that they create the misleading impression that the average is more or less representative of everyone in the group"¹²². When examining the distribution of states, association to economic and job growth disappears as both groups have over- and under-performing states¹²³.

Third, recent studies suggest the economic impact of RTW measures has been declining over time and that much of the effect found in previous studies is an historical vestige and that in recent years RTW had effectively no impact on key employment metrics¹²⁴. Other research has pointed out that regional economic differences found in the post-war period have dissipated. "Any measure of comparative job growth over the past several decades captures the deindustrialization of the Northeast and upper Midwest and the mass relocation of firms to the South starting in the 1960s. ... That wave of relocation may show up in the long-term employment growth of Southern states, but at this point the relocation is complete"¹²⁵.

Further the latest wave of research using more sophisticated methods that control for other factors have consistently shown no economic or employment effects attributable to RTW¹²⁶. These results are coupled with case studies of states which have recently adopted RTW, including Oklahoma, Wisconsin, Indiana and Michigan, which all have shown that the promised economic benefits of RTW have not materialized, with the states showing no economic bump or even lagging behind their non-RTW neighbours¹²⁷.

In all, the latest understanding about the economic impact of RTW is that historically there may have been some effect, although that is uncertain, but that in the contemporary period there is no evidence that RTW boosts a jurisdiction's economic fortunes. Many argue it is impossible to disentangle the effects of a single policy initiative when analyzing macro-economic patterns¹²⁸.

Wages

The other side of the economic question is much clearer – anti-union measures reduce wages. Repeated studies using a range of methodologies have consistently shown that workers in RTW states earn between two and eight per cent less than workers in non-RTW states¹²⁹. The study by Bruno and colleagues sums up the effects well: "RTW has a negative effect on worker wages, holding all else constant. RTW laws lower a worker's hourly wage by about \$2 per hour. RTW is also found to be responsible for between at 2.1 and an 8.2 per cent plunge in a worker's hourly wage"¹³⁰. Lower wages has been one of the most consistent findings regarding RTW.

A related finding is that workers in RTW states are also less likely to receive health and pension benefits. The most comprehensive study found that workers in RTW states are 3.8 per cent and 12.1 per cent less likely to receive health and pension benefits, respectively¹³¹. In part this is due to lower union density, but is also attributable to other employment effects.

In the aftermath of the implementation of the Wisconsin Model, public sector wages immediately dropped between 8.5 per cent and 11.3 per cent and have

stagnated over the past decade¹³². Teachers, who were the target of the most severe changes, saw significant reductions. Six years after the passage of Act 10, teachers were still earning between three and six per cent less overall. They also experienced a 19 per cent cut in the monetary value of their benefit plans.¹³³ Public and private sector compensation in Wisconsin has lagged behind neighbouring states¹³⁴.

The primary mechanism for the reduction in wages is the previously discussed reduction in union density. By reducing the number of workers represented by a union, fewer workers receive the benefit of the union wage premium. Further, while those workers who are unionized retain their relative premium, their capacity to negotiate wage increases is impaired, lowering their wage levels as well.

Effect on Equality

It is widely accepted that unions, in both Canada and the U.S., reduce overall income inequality and racial and gender pay gaps ¹³⁵. The reason is tied to the concept of the union premium discussed above. Unions tend to increase wage rates compared to equivalent non-union workers. Given who are most likely to be represented by unions, this tendency leads to increased wages for lower paid workers, thereby shrinking the gap between the highest and lowest paid. This study succinctly summarizes the dynamic:

Unions reduce wage inequalities because they raise wages more at the bottom and in the middle of the wage scale than at the top. Lower-wage, blue-collar, and high school-educated workers are also more likely than high-wage, white-collar, and college-educated workers to be represented by unions. These two factors – the greater union representation and the larger union wage impact for low-and mid-wage workers – are key to unionization's role in reducing wage inequalities. ¹³⁶

The same dynamic leads unions to reduce gender- and race-based inequity, as women and racialized workers are more likely to be in lower wage occupations, although relative union density (racialized workers are less likely to be unionized) can mediate this effect¹³⁷.

It stands to reason, therefore, that as union density declines inequality increases. In most countries union density is negatively correlated with inequality¹³⁸. Canada and the U.S. fit this dynamic as Canada has a Gini Coefficient (a widely accepted measurement of inequality) 20 per cent lower than the U.S. (33.3 to 41.4)¹³⁹. Researchers in the U.S. have estimated that 20 per cent to 33 per cent of the rise of inequality in the U.S. is attributable to their decline in union density over the past few decades¹⁴⁰.

If we look at the impact of anti-union measures specifically, research in the U.S. has confirmed this general link. A recent study examining inequality before and after the passage of RTW laws shows that RTW increases income inequality overall, although there are some complexities¹⁴¹. The rise in inequality is highest in states where unions were strongest before the passage of RTW laws. The study also confirms that wages on the low end of the pay scale drop post-RTW. In a related measure, RTW states have higher poverty rates than non-RTW states¹⁴².

Rising inequality has differential impacts on different groups of workers. The gap in wages between blue collar and white collar workers increases under RTW, as does the gap between workers with lower and higher levels of education¹⁴³. Repeated studies have confirmed that the gender pay gap also increases with RTW¹⁴⁴. The data for racialized workers is more complex. Studies find a general worsening of conditions for African-American workers, while they find mixed impacts on Hispanic workers¹⁴⁵. Some studies have shown that Hispanic and African-American workers experience a larger wage drop post RTW in part due to the fact they receive a higher union premium when unionized¹⁴⁶.

Rising inequality under anti-union measures is not just a factor of fewer workers being in unions, although that is a key reason. The results speak to the broader role unions play in society and their work outside the workplace to affect social change. Weakening unions fosters greater inequality because unions engage in broader social issues. "Strong labor unions may operate as an essential mediating institution that helps reduce political and economic inequality" ¹⁴⁷. Undermining them can undercut the bonds that hold societies together.

Effect on Political Discourse

The discussion on equality speaks to a degree to unions' influence in politics and the shaping of public policy. Undermining unions weakens their ability to participate in public debate, which leads to policy decisions that increase inequality and other inequities in society. This is a very direct consequence of anti-union measures. The impact goes further than just weakening union voice.

Some research has focused specifically on the electoral effects of antiunion legislation. Feigenbaum and colleagues conducted a border county comparison analysis examining a number of political outcomes¹⁴⁸. They find, unsurprisingly, that the vote share for Democratic candidates decreases post-RTW by four to six per cent. Voting turnout overall is reduced. The authors find that much of the reduction in Democratic votes is attributable to reduced turnout by Democratic voters. They argue that RTW reduces unions' ability to fund Democratic campaigns, making those campaigns less able to contact potential Democratic voters and to assist them in voting.

Further, the study finds that over the long term RTW affects who runs for office. Fewer working class people run for office and fewer are elected to state legislatures. This shift in who fills elected office leads to a rightward shift in state public policy overall. "State policy as a whole, moreover, moves to the ideological right in RTW states following the passage of those laws" 149. RTW states were already more conservative than non-RTW states (hence the enactment of anti-union measures). This study suggests that RTW and other measure entrench and intensify that political lean.

Similar arguments are made for measures targeting public sector unions like the Wisconsin Model. They have the effect of weakening the financial position of public sector unions, which leads to a rolling back of their political activities¹⁵⁰. This effect is argued to be a goal of such legislation. "The weakening of public sector labor laws is a deliberate attempt by Republicans to hinder the political mobilization of Democratic-leaning institutions"¹⁵¹.

That these laws are designed to undermine union political power is not controversial. Many RTW and Wisconsin Model advocates are quite explicit about the target of such legislation to undermine the political influence of unions. One activist was recently quoted discussing a U.S.-wide campaign to enact anti-union legislation: "[Our goal is to] defund and defang one of our freedom movement's most powerful opponents, the government unions ... [to] deal a major blow to the left's ability to control government at the state and national levels. I'm talking about permanently depriving the left from access to millions of dollars in dues extracted from unwilling union members every election cycle" Much of their attention focuses on unions' influence over public services and government spending, considering such efforts a conflict of interest and detrimental to taxpayers 153.

The intention and impact of these measures is not just to reduce the "union influence" in politics. It is to ensure politicians sympathetic to the issues unions and their members care about are less successful, allowing their political opponents to thrive. In such an environment elected officials can make decisions about a whole range of policies that affect the lives of working people. Anti-union measures need to be seen within the broader political context of shifting electoral and political power away from working people and to interests opposing them.

Effect on Public Services

The final effect to consider is whether anti-union measures impact the delivery of public services. Since most of the measures taken in U.S. states in recent years have focused on public sector workers, it is reasonable to ask whether these actions have affected the levels of funding for public services and/or the quality of those services.

In Wisconsin the restrictions on public sector bargaining were accompanied by a set of budget cuts. The government cut \$1 billion from the state budget over two years, including a 7.9 per cent reduction to schools plus a 5.5 per cent reduction in school tax revenue and an 11.6 per cent cutback to municipalities¹⁵⁴. This reduction was followed by multiple years of budget restriction. Ten years later, inflation-adjusted school funding continued to be \$75 million lower than in 2011¹⁵⁵ and funding for municipalities continues to drop. Teacher turnover has increased, retention has decreased, and more school boards report difficulty recruiting new hires¹⁵⁶. Per capita funding dropped from 12th in the U.S. to 24th over the 10 years¹⁵⁷ and teachers' working conditions deteriorated¹⁵⁸. While overall education outcomes remained stable, statewide figures mask increased inequality between richer and poorer school districts¹⁵⁹. During this time tax cuts amounted to \$13.6 billion cumulatively¹⁶⁰.

Other states, including Ohio, Michigan and Indiana, followed Wisconsin and also engaged in significant budget cutbacks, with resulting cuts to services similar to the experience in Wisconsin¹⁶¹. While the issues of restricting bargaining and government funding cutbacks are theoretically unrelated, advocates have explicitly linked the two, justifying the attacks on public sector unions as part of the effort to reduce deficits and control government spendin¹⁶².

There has not been much research examining how RTW affects the funding levels for and quality of public services. There is evidence that RTW states have lower overall government expenditures per capita¹⁶³, although this statistic includes a wide-range of budgetary commitments. The studies that have been performed focus on education, which is the largest state-level funding commitment. RTW states spend, on average, 31.6 per cent less on elementary and secondary education than non-RTW states¹⁶⁴. A new study examining the effect of RTW on education outcomes finds that "prohibitions on agency fees for teachers' unions lead to declines in teachers' union power, but contrary to what many union critics have argued, I find that these efforts did not result in political opportunities for education reforms nor did they result in increases in student outcomes. If anything, RTW policies have decreased student achievement"¹⁶⁵.

Some interesting research has found that RTW is associated with a 14.2 per cent increase in occupational-related death¹⁶⁶. Other studies have found increased incidence of fatal accidents in construction in RTW states¹⁶⁷. In both cases the effect is found to be primarily related to the decrease in union density and a reduction in the union safety effect.

There appear to be at least some evidence for negative impacts on public health. Median life expectancy in non-RTW states is slightly higher (77.6 vs. 76.7 years)¹⁶⁸. Infant mortality rates appear to be higher in RTW states (6.3 vs. 5.2 per 100,000 births)¹⁶⁹. However, care should be taken in interpreting these statistics as they rely upon averages across states (the same problem that plagues economic growth estimates). It is also very difficult to isolate causes for complex public health outcomes. The data should not be ignored, either, for it is well known public health outcomes are linked to factors that are affected by RTW, including levels of poverty, inequality and access to affordable health care.

Leading up to the Janus decision some public health researchers expressed concern of its longer term impacts on public health: "We argue that a win for Janus would threaten public health by eroding organized labor's power to improve working conditions" The authors argue that reduced union power will lead to greater inequality and worse access to health care for lower income workers, pointing to the American Public Health Association's longstanding position that union organizing is beneficial for public health due to its role in decreasing inequality.

Assessing the impact of anti-union measures on public services can be challenging. There has been little direct research into the subject and it is difficult to isolate those effects from other factors or the effects of other policy decisions. What information that is available lays out an argument that weakening union strength can undermine their ability to affect broader social and political issues and it is that impact that can lead to an erosion of public services.

It should also be highlighted that we cannot disentangle anti-union measures from a broader political agenda aiming to advance neo-liberal policies and government austerity. As our examination of the U.S. has shown, they are two sides to the same agenda. While we cannot demonstrate that RTW and other anti-union laws directly weaken public services in the same way as they lower union density and decrease workers' wages, we can show that they are accompanied by other policy and fiscal solutions that negatively impact public services. We certainly observe a similar pattern in Alberta, where anti-union measures are only part of a broader political agenda to "re-make" Alberta.

Conclusion: The Americanization of Labour Relations in Alberta

This report has examined the labour relations-related provisions in Bill 32 and considered their potential impacts on Alberta. It has examined the bill from the perspective of how it might impact the charter-protected rights of Albertans. It has also explored how its provisions resemble aspects of labour relations law in the United States.

The two issues are related. The contemporary state of labour relations in Canada is due, in part, to an evolving understanding of the balance between individual and collective rights, how those rights express themselves in the charter and, ultimately, how workers' collective actions in the workplace are protected (or not) through legislation and policy. Whether the courts and governments have struck the right balance in protecting those rights is a legitimate subject of debate, and whether the understanding of that balance will continue to evolve is unknown. At present, Canada's approach to this balance differs markedly from that of the U.S., which has sided much more firmly with individual rights at the expense of collective expressions of those rights.

As a consequence there has been greater latitude for governments in the U.S. to interfere with collective-based rights through legislative action, one that many have opted to utilize. The result has been a weaker labour movement south of the border. As has been discussed, that weakened union position has led to a series of social, economic, and political impacts including greater inequality and inequity. The differing approaches to labour relations is one of the factors creating the differences between the two countries.

Bill 32 moves Alberta's labour relations environment closer to the U.S. model in two ways. First, a number of its provisions are unprecedented in Canada and much more closely reflect U.S. law. In particular the interference with union internal affairs and the dues opt-in provisions appear to be copied from American examples. These and other provisions will undermine unions' ability to represent their members, organize new members, and engage in public debate.

Second, Bill 32 deviates from the delicate balance of rights established in Canadian labour relations. Its provisions elevate individual freedom of choice, employer freedom of expression, and employer economic rights above the collective rights of workers to associate. The provisions are very much in the tone of the American understanding of these rights and how they are to be balanced.

It is important to not overstate the stability or desirability of the Canadian approach. The Canadian system has its critics on both sides and much of the current thinking related to the charter is only a few years old. Canadian workers do not have an easy time exercising their collective rights and large numbers of workers have those rights denied in multiple ways. It is only that they have an easier time than their counterparts in the U.S. While that may be small comfort for those workers, it is a difference that should not be ignored.

Besides, in the world of work, small differences matter. We have known for a long time that small changes in labour and employment policy can result in significant differences in economic and labour market outcomes¹⁷¹. Recognizing this reality, this report has intentionally expanded the scope of analysis beyond certification levels, union density, and union finances to examine the broader impacts of these "small" changes. The impacts of Bill 32 will extend much beyond these technical matters of labour relations practice and reach into the lives of ordinary working Albertans. Bill 32 matters, in part, because of the scope of its impacts.

As the bill has only recently been passed and some of its more Americaninspired pieces are not yet in force (as of the time of writing), we cannot be certain what the total impacts will be. We cannot be sure if provisions will be struck down by the courts as violating the charter. We do not know if the economic, social, and political impacts experienced in the U.S. will be replicated here. Only time can unravel that story.

What we do know is that Bill 32 moves Alberta closer to an American form of labour relations, one where workers' rights are subsumed by other interests. It is a decided shift in balancing competing interests, one that will advantage employers at the expense of their workers. That shift is likely to have noticeable consequences for workers' exercise of their rights. That is worth paying attention to.

Finally, this report argued that Bill 32 impacts more than just unions and their members. The consequences of changes like those in Bill 32 ripple out to all corners of society. All Albertans have a stake in the levels of inequality in our province. All Albertans are affected by the direction our economic growth and what our labour market looks like. All Albertans benefit from quality public services. All Albertans should be concerned at the prospect of charter-protected rights being undermined. And all Albertans value and rely upon a healthy democratic politics where a multitude of voices can be heard.

Bill 32 touches upon all of those things. That is why understanding Bill 32 matters.

Endnotes

- Stephen Shore, "The 'Restoring Balance in Alberta's Workplaces Act': Bill 32 Proposes Key Changes to Labour and Employment Legislation," National Law Review, August 7, 2020; Jason Foster, "Alberta's Bill 32 Is a Seismic Break in Labour and Employment Law," Canadian Law of Work Forum (blog), July 10, 2020, https://lawofwork.ca/albertas-bill-32-is-a-seismic-break-in-labour-and-employment-law/.
- Alberta Federation of Labour, "No 'Balance' Here: Bill 32 Tips the Scales against Working Albertans," July 22, 2020, https://www.afl.org/no_balance_here_bill_32_tips_the_scales_against_working_albertans; AUPE, "UCP Bill 32 Is an Attack on People Power, Says AUPE," July 7, 2020, https://www.aupe.org/news/news-and-updates/media-release-ucp-bill-32-attack-people-power-says-aupe.
- 3 Statistics Canada, "Table 14-10-0129-01 Union Status by Geography," 2021.
- 4 Craig Heron, *The Canadian Labour Movement : A Short History* (Toronto: J. Lorimer, 1996).
- 5 Judy Fudge and Eric Tucker, "Pluralism or Fragmentation? The Twentieth-Century Employment Law Regime in Canada," *Labour/Le Travail* 46 (2000): 276.
- 6 Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Union Members 2020," January 22, 2021.
- 7 Statistics Canada, "Table 14-10-0070-01 Union Status by Industry," 2021, https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1410007001.
- Chris Riddell, "Union Suppression and Certification Success,"

 Canadian Journal of Economics 34, no. 2 (2001): 396–410; Michele
 Campolieti, Chris Riddell, and Sara Slinn, "Labor Law Reform and the
 Role of Delay in Union Organizing: Empirical Evidence from Canada,"

 Industrial & Labor Relations Review 61, no. 1 (2007): 32–58; David
 Card and Richard B. Freeman, eds., Small Differences That Matter:

 Labor Markets and Income Maintenance in Canada and the United
 States (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1993); Jim Stanford,
 "The Surprising Resilience of Trade Unionism in Canada," Centre for
 Future Work (blog), August 26, 2020, https://centreforfuturework.
 ca/2020/08/26/the-surprising-resilience-of-trade-unionism-in-canada/.
- 9 Eric Tucker, "Shall Wagnerism Have No Dominion?," *Just Labour*, December 31, 1969, https://doi.org/10.25071/1705-1436.11.
- 10 Eric Tucker, "The Constitutoinal Right to Bargain Collectively: The Ironies of Labour History in the Supreme Court of Canada," *Labour/Le Travail* 61 (Spring 2008): 151–80.

- 11 Eric Tucker, "Freedom to Strike? What Freedom to Strike? Back-to-Work Legislation and the Freedom to Strike in Historical and Legal Perspective," *Labour / Le Travail* 86, no. 1 (2020): 135–47, https://doi.org/10.1353/llt.2020.0042.
- 12 Fudge and Tucker, "Pluralism or Fragmentation? The Twentieth-Century Employment Law Regime in Canada"; Charles W. Smith, "The Ghosts of Wagnerism: Organized Labour, Union Strategies, and the Charter of Rights and Freedoms," *Canadian Journal of Law and Society / Revue Canadienne Droit et Société* 34, no. 01 (April 2019): 99–120, https://doi.org/10.1017/cls.2019.9.
- 13 Riddell, "Union Suppression and Certification Success"; Campolieti, Riddell, and Slinn, "Labor Law Reform and the Role of Delay in Union Organizing: Empirical Evidence from Canada."
- 14 Michael R. Carrell and Christina Heavrin, *Labor Relations and Collective Bargaining: Private and Public Sectors*, 10th ed (Upper Saddle River, N.J.: Pearson, 2013).
- 15 Carrell and Heavrin.
- John Logan, "The Union Avoidance Industry in the United States," *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 44, no. 4 (2006): 651–75.
- 17 Karen J. Bentham, "Employer Resistance to Union Certification: A Study of Eight Canadian Jurisdictions," *Relations Industrielles / Industrial Relations* 57, no. 1 (2002): 159–87; David J Doorey, "The Medium and the 'Anti-Union' Message: 'Forced Listening' and Captive Audience Meetings in Canadian Labor Law," *Comparative Labor Law & Policy Journal* 29, no. 2 (2008): 79–117.
- 18 Bentham, "Employer Resistance to Union Certification: A Study of Eight Canadian Jurisdictions," 161.
- 19 Karen J. Bentham, "The Determinants and Impacts of Employer Resistance to Union Certification In Canada" (PhD Dissertation, Toronto, University of Toronto, 1999); Felice F. Martinello and Charlotte Yates, "Union and Employer Tactics in Ontario Organising Campaigns," in *Advances in Industrial & Labor Relations*, vol. 13 (Bingley: Emerald, 2004), 157–90; Riddell, "Union Suppression and Certification Success."
- 20 Doorey, "The Medium and the 'Anti-Union' Message: 'Forced Listening' and Captive Audience Meetings in Canadian Labor Law."
- 21 David J Doorey, *The Law of Work*, 2nd ed. (Toronto ON: Emond Publishing, 2020).
- 22 Ian Kullgren, "Union Elections Took Longer in 2020, but Virus Not Only Factor," *Bloomberg Law* (blog), January 4, 2021, https://news.bloomberglaw.com/daily-labor-report/union-elections-took-longer-in-2020-but-virus-not-only-factor.

- 23 Campolieti, Riddell, and Slinn, "Labor Law Reform and the Role of Delay in Union Organizing: Empirical Evidence from Canada"; Susan Johnson, "The Impact of Mandatory Votes on the Canada-U.S. Union Density Gap: A Note," *Industrial Relations* 43, no. 2 (2004): 356–63.
- 24 William H. Holley, Roger S. Wolters, and William (William H.) Ross, The Labor Relations Process, Eleventh edition (Australia; Boston, MA: Cengage Learning, 2017).
- 25 Sara Slinn, "An Analysis of the Effects on Parties' Unionization Decisions of the Choice of the Choice of Union Representation Procedure: The Strategic Dynamic Certification Model," Osgoode Hall Law Journal 43, no. 4 (2005): 407–50; Chris Riddell, "Union Certification Success under Voting Versus Card-Check Procedures: Evidence from British Columbia, 1978–1998," Industrial & Labor Relations Review 57, no. 4 (2004): 493–517.
- 26 Sara Slinn, "No Right (to Organize) Without a Remedy: Evidence and Consequences of the Failure to Provide Compensatory Remedies for Unfair Labour Practices in British Columbia," McGill Law Journal 53, no. 4 (2008): 687–740.
- 27 Wayne Gold, "NLRB Remedies Today" (American Bar Association Section of Labor and Employment Law Third Annual CLE Conference, Baltimore, MD, 2009).
- 28 Celine McNicholas et al., "Unlawful" (Washington, D.C.: Economic Policy Institute, December 11, 2019); Lynn Rhinehart and Celine McNicholas, "Shortchanged—Weak Anti-Retaliation Provisions in the National Labor Relations Act Cost Workers Billions" (Washington, D.C.: Economic Policy Institute, April 22, 2021).
- 29 Kate Bronfenbrenner, "No Holds Barred: The Intensification of Employer Opposition to Organizing," Briefing Paper (Economic Policy Institute, 2009).
- 30 Slinn, "No Right (to Organize) Without a Remedy: Evidence and Consequences of the Failure to Provide Compensatory Remedies for Unfair Labour Practices in British Columbia," 732.
- A. Bernhardt, M. W. Spiller, and D. Polson, "All Work and No Pay: Violations of Employment and Labor Laws in Chicago, Los Angeles and New York City," *Social Forces* 91, no. 3 (March 1, 2013): 725–46, https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/sos193; Bruce E. Kaufman, ed., *Government Regulation of the Employment Relationship*, 1st ed, Industrial Relations Research Association Series (Madison, WI: Industrial Relations Research Association, 1997).

- 32 John-Paul Ferguson, "Eyes of the Needles: A Sequential Model of Union Organizing Drives, 1999–2004," *Industrial & Labor Relations Review* 62, no. 1 (2008): 3–21; Chris Riddell, "Labor Law and Reaching a First Collective Agreement: Evidence From a Quasi-Experimental Set of Reforms in Ontario," *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 52, no. 3 (July 2013): 702–36, https://doi.org/10.1111/irel.12030.
- 33 Bradley R. Weinberg, "til Dissolution Do Us Part: (Re) Assessing the First Contract and Trial Marriage Goals of First Contract Arbitration in Ontario," *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 60, no. 1 (January 2021): 119–44, https://doi.org/10.1111/irel.12273.
- Paul C. Weiler, Reconcilable Differences: New Directions in Canadian Labour Law. Paul Weiler (Toronto, Canada: Carswell, 1980); Susan Johnson, "First Contract Arbitration: Effects on Bargaining and Work Stoppages," Industrial & Labor Relations Review 63, no. 4 (2010): 585–605.
- 35 Holley, Wolters, and Ross, *The Labor Relations Process*.
- 36 Carrell and Heavrin, Labor Relations and Collective Bargaining.
- 37 Doorey, The Law of Work.
- 38 Michael Lynk, "Union Democracy and the Law in Canada," *Just Labour* 1 (2003): 16–30.
- 39 Holley, Wolters, and Ross, The Labor Relations Process, 84.
- 40 Doorey, The Law of Work.
- 41 Required union membership (closed shop) and voluntary dues payment (open shop) are possible through negotiated agreement but are exceptions to the norm.
- 42 Robert Iafolla, "Mass Exodus of Public Union Fee Payers After High Court Ruling," *Bloomberg Law* (blog), April 5, 2019, https://news. bloomberglaw.com/daily-labor-report/mass-exodus-of-public-union-fee-payers-after-high-court-ruling.
- 43 Ian Kullgren and Aaron Kessler, "Unions Fend Off Membership Exodus in 2 Years Since Janus Ruling," *Bloomberg Law* (blog), June 26, 2020, https://news.bloomberglaw.com/daily-labor-report/unions-fend-off-membership-exodus-in-2-years-since-janus-ruling; Robert Combs, "Two Years Later, Are Public Unions Outlasting Janus?," *Bloomberg Law* (blog), February 25, 2021, https://news.bloomberglaw.com/bloomberg-law-analysis/analysis-two-years-later-are-public-unions-outlasting-janus?context=search&index=0.
- 44 Brian Olney, "Paycheck Protection or Paycheck Deception: When Government Subsidies Silence Political Speech," *UC Irvine Law Review* 4 (2014): 881–938.

- 45 Catherine Fisk and Benjamin Sachs, "Restoring Equity in Right-to-Work Law," *UC Irvine Law Review* 4, no. 2 (2014): 857–80.
- 46 Doorey, The Law of Work.
- 47 Holley, Wolters, and Ross, The Labor Relations Process.
- 48 National Labor Relations Board, "Secondary Boycotts," 2021, Paycheck Protection or Paycheck Deception: When Government Subsidies Silience Political Speech n.p.
- 49 Michele Campolieti, Robert Hebdon, and Benjamin Dachis, "The Impact of Collective Bargaining Legislation on Strike Activity and Wage Settlements," *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 53, no. 3 (July 2014): 394–429, https://doi.org/10.1111/irel.12063.
- 50 Larry Savage and Jonah Butovsky, "Should the Use of Replacement Workers Be Prohibited?," in *Canadian Labour Relations: Law, Policy, and Practice*, by David J Doorey and Alison Braley-Rattai, 2020.
- 51 Peter Cramton and Joseph Tracy, "The Use of Replacement Workers in Union Contract Negotiations: The U.S. Experience, 1980–1989," *Journal of Labor Economics* 16, no. 4 (October 1998): 667–701, https://doi.org/10.1086/209902.
- 52 Andrew Stevens and Sean Tucker, "Working in the Shadows for Transparency: Russ Hiebert, Labour Watch, Nanos Research, and the Making of Bill C-377," *Labour / Le Travail* 75 (2015): 133–57.
- 53 Doorey, The Law of Work, 20.
- 54 Godard, John, "Labour Law and Union Recognition in Canada: A Historical Institutionalist Perspective," *Queen's Law Journal* 38, no. 2 (2013): 394–417.
- Joseph B. Rose, "Union Organising and Union Revitalisation in Canada," in *Union Revitalisation in Advanced Economies: Assessing* the Contribution of Union Organising, ed. Gregor Gall (Houndmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire; New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2009), 175–90; McNicholas et al., "Unlawful."
- 56 McNicholas et al., "Unlawful."
- 57 Campolieti, Riddell, and Slinn, "Labor Law Reform and the Role of Delay in Union Organizing: Empirical Evidence from Canada"; Johnson, "The Impact of Mandatory Votes on the Canada-U.S. Union Density Gap: A Note."
- 58 e.g., Doorey, "The Medium and the 'Anti-Union' Message: 'Forced Listening' and Captive Audience Meetings in Canadian Labor Law."

- 59 Kullgren, "Union Elections Took Longer in 2020, but Virus Not Only Factor."
- 60 Kullgren.
- 61 Alberta Labour Relations Board, "Concluded Files Certification", various years.
- 62 Weinberg, "til Dissolution Do Us Part."
- 63 McLennan Ross Labour & Employment Team, "Bill 32 Changes to the Labour Relations Code," July 7, 2020, https://mross.com/law/Firm/Publications/Email_Alerts/Changes_to_the_Labour_Relations_Code LRC .cid2626.
- 64 Steven Tufts and Mark Thomas, "The Christian Labour Association of Canada (CLAC): Between Company and Populist Unionism," *Labour / Le Travail* 80, no. 1 (2017): 55–79, https://doi.org/10.1353/llt.2017.0043; Firestone [2009] Alta. L.R.B.R. 134 (n.d.).
- 65 Andrew C.L. Sims, "Alberta Construction Labour Legislation Review" (Edmonton: Government of Alberta, November 6, 2013).
- 66 Doorey, The Law of Work.
- 67 Jason Foster, "Revolution, Retrenchment, and the New Normal: The 1990s and Beyond," in *Working People in Alberta: A History*, ed. Alvin Finkel, Working Canadians, Books from the CCLH (Edmonton: AU Press, 2011), 205–42.
- 68 Alison Braley-Rattai, "Plus ca Change? Labour-Relations Policy from Harper to Trudeau," *Review of Constitutional Studies* 21, no. 2 (2016): 235–56.
- 69 Canadian Foundation for Labour Rights, "Brave New World: Fundamental Labour Rights in the Charter Era" (Ottawa, ON: Canadian Foundation for Labour Rights, 2019), 66.
- 70 Paul J.J. Cavalluzzo and Adrienne Telford, "Freedom of Association: How Fundamental Is the Freedom?," in *The Charter at Thirty*, ed. Ryder Gilliland (Toronto: Canada Law Book, 2012), 35.
- 71 Cavalluzzo and Telford, "Freedom of Association: How Fundamental Is the Freedom?"
- 72 Ryder Gilliland, *The Charter at Thirty* (Toronto: Canada Law Book, 2012).
- 73 Larry Savage and Charles W Smith, *Unions in Court: Organized Labour* and the Charter of Rights and Freedoms, 2017.
- 74 Weiler, Reconcilable Differences.
- 75 Doorey, The Law of Work, 693.

- 76 Canadian Foundation for Labour Rights, "Brave New World: Fundamental Labour Rights in the Charter Era."
- 77 Savage and Smith, *Unions in Court*.
- 78 Labour Relations Code Review Panel, "Recommendations for Amendments to the Labour Relations Code" (Victoria, BC: Government of British Columbia, August 31, 2018).
- 79 R.W.D.S.U. Local 558 v. Pepsi-Cola Beverages (West) Ltd. (Supreme Court of Canada January 24, 2002).
- 80 Boritse Mene, "The Constitutionality of the Critical Infrastructure Defence Act (CIDA)," *Rights Angle* (blog), July 23, 2020, http://www.aclrc.com/blog/2020/7/23/the-constitutionality-of-the-critical-infrastructure-defence-act-cida.
- 81 Lynk, "Union Democracy and the Law in Canada," 16.
- 82 Lynk, 17.
- 83 Heron, The Canadian Labour Movement.
- For example, Unifor has community chapters and an insurance plan. https://www.unifor.org/en
- 85 Examples include the National Citizens Coalition and the anti-union website labourwatch.com
- W. Scott Thurlow, "Political Financing Rules and Our Charter Rights," Policy Options (blog), November 23, 2016, https://policyoptions.irpp. org/magazines/november-2016/political-financing-rules-and-our-charter-rights/.
- 87 <u>https://twitter.com/Alberta_UCP/status/1280948014786334721</u>, posted July 8, 2020.
- 88 See Dunmore v Ontario (AG), 2001 and Ontario (Attorney General) v. Fraser, 2011.
- 89 Michael Sainato, "Amazon Workers in Alabama Vote against Forming Company's First Union," *The Guardian*, April 9, 2021, https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2021/apr/09/amazon-union-vote-result-latest-news-bessemer-alabama-plant.
- 90 Tyler Sonnemaker, "Amazon's Victory against a Union Drive in Alabama Proved Workers Want Better Workplaces, but America's Labor Laws Are Too Broken to Help Them Get That, Experts Say," *Business Insider*, April 10, 2021, https://www.businessinsider.com/amazon-union-vote-bessemer-alabama-labor-law-experts-takeaways-2021-4.
- 91 Alberta Labour Board, Concluded Files Certification, various years.

- 92 Don Taylor, "Can Renewal Emerge from Destruction? Crisis and Opportunity in Wisconsin," *Labor Studies Journal* 40, no. 4 (2015): 396–418.
- Dillan Bono-Lunn, "The Right-To-Work Or The Right To Free Ride? The Impacts Of U.S. Right To Work Laws On Wages, Free Riding, And Unionization," SSRN Electronic Journal, 2019, https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3728932.
- 94 Monica Davey, "Wisconsin Justices Uphold Union Limits, a Victory for the Governor," *The New York Times*, July 31, 2014.
- 95 Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Union Members 2020."
- Winston Gereluk, "Alberta Labour in the 1980s," in Working People in Alberta: A History, ed. Alvin Finkel, Working Canadians, Books from the CCLH (Edmonton: AU Press, 2011), 173–204.
- 97 Foster, "Revolution, Retrenchment, and the New Normal: The 1990s and Beyond."
- 98 Robert Combs, "Are Unions Really Weaker in Right-to-Work States?," *Bloomberg Law* (blog), May 13, 2019, https://news.bloomberglaw.com/bloomberg-law-analysis/analysis-are-unions-really-weaker-in-right-to-work-states.
- 99 Raymond Hogler, Steven Shulman, and Stephan Weiler, "Right-to-Work Legislation, Social Capital, and Variations in State Union Density," *Review of Regional Studies*, March 3, 2004, https://doi.org/10.52324/001c.8371.
- 100 Bono-Lunn, "The Right-To-Work Or The Right To Free Ride?"
- 101 Tom VanHeuvelen, "The Right to Work, Power Resources, and Economic Inequality," *American Journal of Sociology* 125, no. 5 (March 1, 2020): 1255–1302, https://doi.org/10.1086/708067.
- 102 David Nack et al., "The Recent Evolution of Wisconsin Public Worker Unionism since Act 10," *Labor Studies Journal* 45, no. 2 (June 2020): 147–65, https://doi.org/10.1177/0160449X19860585.
- 103 Bono-Lunn, "The Right-To-Work Or The Right To Free Ride?"
- 104 Leslie K. Finger and Michael T. Hartney, "Financial Solidarity: The Future of Unions in the Post- *Janus* Era," *Perspectives on Politics* 19, no. 1 (March 2021): 19–35, https://doi.org/10.1017/S1537592719003438.
- 105 E.g., National Right to Work Committee. https://nrtwc.org/
- 106 Casey Ichniowski and Jeffrey S. Zax, "Right-to-Work Laws, Free Riders, and Unionization in the Local Public Sector," *Journal of Labor Economics* 9, no. 3 (July 1991): 255–75, https://doi.org/10.1086/298268.

- 107 Bono-Lunn, "The Right-To-Work Or The Right To Free Ride?"
- 108 VanHeuvelen, "The Right to Work, Power Resources, and Economic Inequality," 1261.
- 109 Combs, "Are Unions Really Weaker in Right-to-Work States?"
- 110 Combs n.p.
- 111 Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Union Members 2020."
- 112 Tony Fang and Anil Verma, "Union Wage Premium," *Perspectives on Labour and Income* 3, no. 9 (2002): 13–19.
- 113 Andrew Jackson and Mark Thomas, *Work and Labour in Canada: Critical Issues*, Third edition (Toronto and Vancouver: Canadian Scholars, 2017).
- 114 Combs, "Are Unions Really Weaker in Right-to-Work States?"; Bono-Lunn, "The Right-To-Work Or The Right To Free Ride?"
- 115 Ozkan Eren, "Does Membership Payoff for Covered Workers? A Distributional Analysis of the Free Rider Problem," *ILR Review* 62, no. 3 (April 2009): 367–80, https://doi.org/10.1177/001979390906200306.
- 116 VanHeuvelen, "The Right to Work, Power Resources, and Economic Inequality."
- 117 Jeffrey A. Eisenach, "Right-to-Work Laws: The Economic Evidence" (Washington, D.C.: NERA Economic Consulting, May 2018); Richard Vedder and Johnathan Robe, "An Interstate Analysis of Right to Work Laws" (Washington, D.C.: Competitive Enterprise Institute, 2014).
- 118 Richard Vedder, "The Economic Effects of Right to Work Laws," *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal* 23, no. 4 (December 2011): 305–10, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10672-011-9182-2.
- 119 Thomas J. Holmes, "The Effect of State Policies on the Location of Manufacturing: Evidence from State Borders," *Journal of Political Economy* 106, no. 4 (August 1998): 667–705, https://doi.org/10.1086/250026.
- 120 Gordon Lafer and Sylvia Allegretto, "Does 'Right-to-Work' Create Jobs? Answers from Oklahoma" (Washington, D.C.: Economic Policy Institute, March 16, 2011).
- 121 Victor G. Devinatz, "Right-to-Work Laws, the Southernization of U.S. Labor Relations and the U.S. Trade Union Movement's Decline," *Labor Studies Journal* 40, no. 4 (December 2015): 297–318, https://doi.org/10.1177/0160449X15622702.
- 122 Gordon Lafer, "What's Wrong with 'Right-to-Work" (Washington, D.C.: Economic Policy Institute, March 1, 2011).

- 123 Gordon Lafer, "Right to Work': The Wrong Answer for Michigan's Economy" (Washington, D.C.: Economic Policy Institute, September 15, 2011).
- 124 Robert J. Newman, *Growth in the American South: Changing Regional Employment and Wage Patterns in the 1960s and 1970s* (New York: New York University Press, 1984); Benjamin Austin, Edward Glaeser, and Lawrence Summers, "Jobs for the Heartland: Place-Based Policies in 21st-Century America," *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* Spring (2018), https://www.hks.harvard.edu/publications/saving-heartland-place-based-policies-21st-century-america.
- 125 Janelle Jones and Heidi Shierholz, "Right-to-Work Is Wrong for Missouri" (Washington, D.C.: Economic Policy Institute, 2018), 6.
- 126 Lonnie K Stevans, "The Effect of Endogenous Right-to-Work Laws on Business and Economic Conditions in the United States: A Multivariate Approach," *Review of Law & Economics* 5, no. 1 (January 16, 2009), https://doi.org/10.2202/1555-5879.1352; Robert Bruno et al., "The Economic Effects of Adopting a Right-to-Work Law: Implications for Illinois," *Labor Studies Journal* 40, no. 4 (December 2015): 319–61, https://doi.org/10.1177/0160449X15619539.
- 127 Ozkan Eren and Serkan Ozbeklik, "What Do Right-to-Work Laws Do? Evidence from a Synthetic Control Method Analysis: What Do Right-to-Work Laws Do?," *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management* 35, no. 1 (January 2016): 173–94, https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.21861; Bruno et al., "The Economic Effects of Adopting a Right-to-Work Law"; Lafer and Allegretto, "Does 'Right-to-Work' Create Jobs? Answers from Oklahoma"; Lafer, "Right to Work': The Wrong Answer for Michigan's Economy."
- 128 Lafer, "What's Wrong with 'Right-to-Work."
- 129 Anthony J. Roberts and Robert A. Habans, "Exploring the Effects of Right-to-Work Laws on Private Wages" (Los Angeles, CA: UCLA Institute for Research on Labor and Employment, 2015); David Cooper and Julia Wolfe, "So-Called Right-to-Work Is Wrong for Montana" (Washington, D.C.: Economic Policy Institute, February 26, 2021); Elise Gould and Will Kimball, "Right to Work' States Still Have Lower Wages" (Washington, D.C.: Economic Policy Institute, April 22, 2015).
- 130 Bruno et al., "The Economic Effects of Adopting a Right-to-Work Law," 338.
- 131 Elise Gould and Heidi Shierholz, "The Compensation Penalty of 'Right to Work' Laws" (Washington, D.C.: Economic Policy Institute, February 17, 2011).

- 132 Riley Vetterkind, "10 Years Later: Wisconsin's Act 10 Has Produced Labor Savings, but at a Cost," *Wisconsin State Journal*, February 7, 2021, https://madison.com/wsj/news/local/govt-and-politics/10-years-later-wisconsins-act-10-has-produced-labor-savings-but-at-a-cost/article_04022e81-82ba-5c23-88f9-25070c031f7c.html.
- 133 David Madland and Alex Rowell, "Attacks on Public-Sector Unions Harm States" (Washington, D.C.: Center for American Progress Action Fund, November 15, 2017).
- 134 Gordon Lafer, "Right to Work' Is the Wrong Answer for Wisconsin's Economy" (Washington, D.C.: Economic Policy Institute, 2015).
- 135 Lawrence Mishel, "Unions, Inequality, and Faltering Middle-Class Wages" (Washington, D.C.: Economic Policy Institute, 2012); Jackson and Thomas, *Work and Labour in Canada*.
- 136 Mishel, "Unions, Inequality, and Faltering Middle-Class Wages," 9.
- 137 Jackson and Thomas, Work and Labour in Canada.
- 138 Dierk Herzer, "Unions and Income Inequality: A Heterogeneous Panel Cointegration and Causality Analysis" (Hamburg, Germany: Helmut-Schmidt- Universität Universität der Bundeswehr Hamburg, 2014).
- 139 The World Bank, "Gini Index," 2021, https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SI.POV.GINI.
- 140 Bruce Western and Jake Rosenfeld, "Unions, Norms, and the Rise in U.S. Wage Inequality," *American Sociological Review* 76, no. 4 (August 2011): 513–37, https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122411414817.
- 141 VanHeuvelen, "The Right to Work, Power Resources, and Economic Inequality."
- 142 Darell Minor, "Poverty, Productivity and Public Health: The Effects of 'Right to Work' Laws OnKey Standards of Living," *Thought and Action* 228 (Fall 2012): 17–30.
- 143 Mishel, "Unions, Inequality, and Faltering Middle-Class Wages."
- 144 Roberts and Habans, "Exploring the Effects of Right-to-Work Laws on Private Wages"; Bruno et al., "The Economic Effects of Adopting a Right-to-Work Law."
- 145 Mishel, "Unions, Inequality, and Faltering Middle-Class Wages"; Bruno et al., "The Economic Effects of Adopting a Right-to-Work Law."
- 146 Celine McNicholas et al., "Why Unions Are Good for Workers— Especially in a Crisis like COVID-19" (Washington, D.C.: Economic Policy Institute, 2020); Bruno et al., "The Economic Effects of Adopting a Right-to-Work Law."

- 147 Patrick Flavin, "Labor Union Strength and the Equality of Political Representation," *British Journal of Political Science* 48, no. 4 (October 2018): 21, https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007123416000302.
- 148 James Feigenbaum, Alexander Hertel-Fernandez, and Vanessa Williamson, "From the Bargaining Table to the Ballot Box: Political Effects of Right to Work Laws," Working Paper (Cambridge MA: National Bureau of Economic Research, January 2018).
- 149 Feigenbaum, Hertel-Fernandez, and Williamson, 27.
- 150 Finger and Hartney, "Financial Solidarity"; Nack et al., "The Recent Evolution of Wisconsin Public Worker Unionism since Act 10."
- 151 Finger and Hartney, "Financial Solidarity," 21.
- 152 Ed Pilkington, "Rightwing Alliance Plots Assault to 'defund and Defang' America's Unions," *The Guardian*, August 30, 2017, https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2017/aug/30/rightwing-alliance-unions-defund-defang.
- 153 For an example of the argument see Daniel DiSalvo, "The Trouble with Public Sector Unions," *National Affairs*, no. 5 (Fall 2010), https://www.nationalaffairs.com/publications/detail/the-trouble-with-public-sector-unions.
- 154 Clay Barbour and Mary Spicuzza, "Education, Local Government Bear Brunt of \$1 Billion in Cuts in Walker's First Budget," *Wisconsin State Journal*, March 1, 2011, https://madison.com/wsj/news/local/govt-and-politics/article_5abf01a0-444b-11e0-9c33-001cc4c03286.html.
- 155 Wisconsin Budget Project, "A Decade After Historic Cuts, Wisconsin Still Hasn't Fully Restored State Aid for Public School Districts," January 27, 2021, http://www.wisconsinbudgetproject.org/a-decade-after-historic-cuts-wisconsin-still-hasnt-fully-restored-state-aid-for-public-school-districts.
- 156 Madland and Rowell, "Attacks on Public-Sector Unions Harm States."
- 157 Logan Wroge, "Report: Wisconsin Fell to Middle of the States on K-12 Spending as Act 10 Took Effect," *Wisconsin State Journal*, September 3, 2020, https://madison.com/wsj/news/local/education/local_schools/report-wisconsin-fell-to-middle-of-the-states-on-k-12-spending-as-act-10/article 80ae177c-249e-5a61-83fc-23aa5b5d4534.html.
- 158 Katy Swalwell et al., "In the Aftermath of Act 10: The Changed State of Teaching in a Changed State," *Peabody Journal of Education* 92, no. 4 (August 8, 2017): 486–504, https://doi.org/10.1080/016195 6X.2017.1349485.
- 159 Vetterkind, "10 Years Later: Wisconsin's Act 10 Has Produced Labor Savings, but at a Cost."

- 160 Wisconsin Budget Project, "A Decade After Historic Cuts, Wisconsin Still Hasn't Fully Restored State Aid for Public School Districts."
- 161 Kim Moody, On New Terrain: How Capital Is Reshaping the Battleground of Class War (Chicago, Illinois: Haymarket Books, 2017); F. Vincent Vernuccio and Christina Bolema, "Labor Reform in the United States: A Visual Timeline" (Midland, MI: Mackinac Center for Public Policy, 2014).
- 162 MacIver Institute, "Act 10 Saves Wisconsin Taxpayers More Than \$12 Billion, New Analysis Finds" (Madison, WI, March 11, 2020), https:// www.maciverinstitute.com/2020/03/act-10-saves-wisconsin-taxpayersmore-than-12-billion-new-analysis-finds/.
- National Association of State Budget Officers, "State Expenditure Report (Fiscal 2018-2020)" (Washington, D.C., 2020).
- 164 NEA Research, "Rankings of the States 2019 and Estimates of School Statistics 2020" (Washington, D.C.: National Education Association, June 2020).
- 165 Melissa Arnold Lyon, "Heroes, Villains, or Something in between? How 'Right to Work' Policies Affect Teachers, Students, and Education Policymaking," *Economics of Education Review* 82 (June 2021): 2, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2021.102105.
- 166 Michael Zoorob, "Does 'Right to Work' Imperil the Right to Health? The Effect of Labour Unions on Workplace Fatalities," *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 75, no. 10 (October 2018): 736–38, https://doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2017-104747.
- 167 Roland Zullo, "RIGHT-TO-WORK LAWS AND FATALITIES IN CONSTRUCTION: ZULLO: RIGHT-TO-WORK LAWS AND FATALITIES IN CONSTRUCTION," *WorkingUSA* 14, no. 2 (June 2011): 225–34, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1743-4580.2011.00334.x.
- 168 Minor, "Poverty, Productivity and Public Health: The Effects of 'Right to Work' Laws OnKey Standards of Living."
- 169 National Center for Health Statistics, "Infant Mortality Rates by State" (Washington, D.C.: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 2018), https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/pressroom/sosmap/infant_mortality_rates/infant_mortality.htm.
- 170 Jerzy Eisenberg-Guyot and Amy Hagopian, "Right-to-Work-for-Less: How Janus v. AFSCME Threatens Public Health," *NEW SOLUTIONS: A Journal of Environmental and Occupational Health Policy* 28, no. 3 (November 2018): 392–99, https://doi.org/10.1177/1048291118784713.
- 171 Card and Freeman, Small Differences That Matter.



1-12 Humanities Centre University of Alberta Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2E5 Phone: 780.492.8558

Email: parkland@ualberta.ca Website: www.parklandinstitute.ca

ISBN: 978-1-894949-81-1